République Algérienne Démocratique et Populaire Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique Université 8 Mai 1945 Guelma



Faculté des Mathématiques, de l'Informatique

et des Sciences de la Matière

Département des mathématiques

Laboratoire de Mathématiques Appliquées et de Modélisation

THÈSE

EN VUE DE L'OBTENTION DU DIPLOME DE

DOCTORAT EN SCIENCES

Filière: Mathématique

Présentée par MOUMEN BEKKOUCHE Mohammed

Intitulée

Analytical and numerical study for an integro-differential

nonlinear Volterra equation

Soutenue le : 16/ 02/ 2020.

Devant le Jury composé de :

Mr. Mohamed Zine Aissaoui	\mathbf{Prof}	Univ de Guelma	Président
Mr. Hamza Guebbai	Prof	Univ de Guelma	Encadreur
Mr. Muhammet Kurulay	Prof	Yıldız Teknik Üniversitesi	Co-encadreur
Mr. Abdelouahab Mansour	Prof	Univ d'Eloued	Examinateur
Mr. Fateh Ellaggoune	Prof	Univ de Guelma	Examinateur
Mr. Noureddine Benrabia	Mca	Univ de Souk Ahras	Examinateur

Année Universitaire : 2020/2021.

Abstract

The objective of this thesis is to study the existence and uniqueness of the solution of a nonlinear integro-differential equation of Volterra of second kind when the derivative of the solution appears under the sign of integration in a non-linear way, which has been defined without a singular kernel. Then, using Matlab and C ++ we get the approximate solution and error estimates. During this study, we deemed it necessary to study a problem of Fractional Boundary value in the presence of this derivative, it leads to the study of a linear integral Volterra-Fredholm equation of the second type and this by defining a new fractional integral as inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo.

Key words:

Nonlinear integro-differential equation of Volterra, Fractional derivative without singular kernel, Convergence, Analytical solution, Existence and uniqueness of solution, Fractional Boundary value problem, Green's function, fractional integral.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010):

26A33, 34A08, 34K37, 45B05, 34A12, 47G20, 47Gxx.

Résumé

L'objectif de cette thèse est d'étudier l'existence et l'unicité de la solution d'une équation intégro-différentielle non linéaire de Volterra de second type lorsque la dérivée de la solution apparaît sous le signe de l'intégration de manière non linéaire, qui a été définie sans noyau singulier. Ensuite, en utilisant Matlab et C ++, nous obtenons la solution approximative et les estimations d'erreur. Au cours de cette étude, nous avons jugé nécessaire d'étudier un problème fractionnaire aux limites en présence de cette dérivée, ce dernier conduit à l'étude d'une équation Volterra-Fredholm intégrale linéaire du second type et ce en définissant une nouvelle intégrale fractionnaire comme inverse de la dérivée fractionnaire conformable de Caputo.

Mots clés:

Équation intégro-différentielle non linéaire de Volterra, Dérivée fractionnaire sans noyau singulier, Convergence, Solution analytique, Existence et unicité de la solution, Problèmes aux limites fractionnaire, fonction de Green, intégrale fractionnaire.

الما

الهدف من هذه الرسالة هو دراسة وجود وتفرد حل معادلة فولتيرا التكاملية غير الخطية من النوع الثاني عندما يظهر مشتق الحل تحت اشارة التكامل بطريقة غير خطية، والتي تم تعريفه بدون نواة شاذة. ومن ثم استخدمنا MATLAB و + + C للحصول على الحل التقريبي وتقدير الخطأ المرتكب. وخلال هاته الدراسة وجدنا أنه من الضروري دراسة المسائل الحدية في وجود هذا المشتق حيث تؤول إلى دراسة معادلة تكاملية خطية لفولتيرا - فريدهولم من النوع الثاني ومن أجل ذلك قمنا بتعريف التكامل الكسري الجديد والذي يعتبر مقلوب مشتق كابوتو الكسري الجديد.

: المعانية المناكرة:

معادلة فولتيرا التكاملية غير الخطية، مشتق كابوتو الكسري، التكامل الكسري، دراسة المسائل الحدية، الحل التحليلي، التقارب، وجود وتفرد الحل، تابع قرين.

Acknowledgement

With the support of the people with whom I have worked and met throughout my research this thesis has become the key to my rewarding life. First and foremost, I thank my advisor Prof. **Hamza Guebbai** who encouraged me to work in the field of Fractional Calculus and it's applications. It was a great pleasure completing this work under his guidance. I am deeply indebted to him for his constant guidance and encouragement. I am grateful for his collaboration, thorough discussions, and reviews of my work, as well as for pushing me forward whenever I needed it. With his great knowledge and open attitude, he created a fertile environment of which this thesis is the yield.

I deeply thank my Prof. **Muhammet Kurulay** for having spent time help me for writing my manuscript. I would also like to thank the members of the jury.

I want to thank my friends for creating a pleasant work environment. I really appreciate all the good moments that we shared together. Special thanks to Dr. Ahmed EL Amine Youmbai for his contributions to the works we have carried out.

I do thank all the member of my PhD Thesis Committee for acceptation:

- Prof Mohamed Zine Aissaoui
- Prof Abdelouahab Mansour
- Prof Fateh Ellaggoune

• Dr. Noureddine Benrabia

Finally, my heartfelt thanks to my family and my parents for supporting my decivition of opting for an academic-research career. Without their blessings this thesis could not have been conceived. They have been the tower of strength and motivation for me. Their devotion for my betterment will always be reflected in every milestone I achieve in my life.

Contents

A	bstra	:t	1
R	ésum	3	2
A	rabic	Abstract	3
A	cknov	ledgement	4
Li	st of	Figures	7
Li	st of	Tables	8
In	trod	ction	9
1	Fra	tional Calculus	11
	1.1	History, Definitions and Applications	11
		1.1.1 Grünwald–Letnikov derivative	15
		1.1.2 Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative	15
		1.1.3 Caputo derivative	16
		1.1.4 A new fractional derivative of Caputo	16
	1.2	Differentiation under the Integral Sign	21
2	Vol	erra integro-differential equations	25
	2.1	Hypotheses	30
	2.2	Analysis study	33
	2.3	Uniqueness	34
	2.4	Numerical study	37
	2.5	System study	37

	2.6	Error analysis	39
	2.7	Numerical result	42
3	A N	lew Definition of Fractional Integral	51
	3.1	The First Definition of New Fractional Integral	55
	3.2	Theoretical Application	59
	3.3	The Second Definition of New Fractional Integral	64
4	Ana	lytical and Numerical Study for a Fractional BVP	67
	4.1	Analytic Study	68
	4.2	Existence and uniqueness of the solution	70
	4.3	Numerical study	72
	4.4	Numerical result	74
Co	onclu	sion	83
Bi	bliog	raphy	84
Aı	mex		90

List of Figures

1.1	The gamma function along part of the real axis	14
1.2	An example of a normalization function.	17
2.1	Numerical solution of example 2.1 for $(N = 32)$ with the exact solution, and	
	error obtained.	47
2.2	Numerical solution of example 2.2 for $(N = 32)$ with the exact solution, and	
	error obtained.	48
2.3	Numerical solution of example 2.3 for $(N = 32)$ with the exact solution, and	
	error obtained.	50
3.1	Eexact solution of boundary value problem (3.5)	55
3.2	Eexact solution of boundary value problem (3.12)	62
4.1	The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.1) with $N = 16. \ldots \ldots \ldots$	77
4.2	The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.2) with $N = 128. \ldots \ldots$	78
4.3	The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.3) with $N = 16. \ldots \ldots$	79
4.4	The approximate solution of test Example (4.4) with $N = 32$	82

List of Tables

2.1	The numerical error obtained for the example 2.1	47
2.2	Numerical error obtained for example 2.2	49
2.3	Numerical error obtained for example 2.3	49

Introduction

This thesis is the outcome of my research during my Ph.D. study at Guelma University. The principal materials in the thesis are based on the following articles from this period :

Paper I: Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. & Kurulay M. Analytical and numerical study of a nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations with conformable fractional derivation of Caputo. Annals of the University of Craiova - Mathematics and Computer Science Series(2020). https://doi.org/.

Paper II: Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. & Kurulay M. On the solvability fractional of a boundary value problem with new fractional integral. J. Appl. Math. Comput. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12190-020-01368-x.

Paper III: Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. Analytical and Numerical Study for an Fractional Boundary Value Problem with conformable fractional derivative of Caputo and its Fractional Integral. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Mech., JAMCM(2020). https: //doi.org/

Paper IV: Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. & Kurulay M., S. Benmahmoud*A* new fractional integral associated with the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional derivative. Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo Series 2 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12215-020-00557-8.

The organization of this thesis is as follows : The thesis begins in Chapter 1 that contains a brief history about the appearance of the concept of fractional calculus and a presentaion of some fractional derivative. In the sequel, we describe some basic concepts and give some information about direct and inverse problems. Afterward, we collect the results obtained from three articles above and present them respectively in Chapters 2, 3 and 4. The next three chapters are structured on fractional calculus as follows: We start in Chapter 2, by studying an integro-differential equation of Volterra when the derivative of the solution appears under the sign of integration in a non-linear way. The derivation is conformable fractional of the Caputo type, we prove two theorems of existence and uniqueness for the solutions of this problem in a Banach space specific to the derivative of Caputo. The analytical study is followed by a complete numerical study.

In Chapter 3, we introduce a new definition of fractional integral as an inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo. By using these definitions, we obtain the basic properties of those fractional derivative and its fractional integral. Finally, we solve a class of fractional boundary value problems as a theoretical application, and we use Matlab to solve this class of fractional boundary value problems. In Chapter 4, we consider a class of a fractional boundary value problem with conformable fractional derivation of the Caputo type. We obtain existence and uniqueness results for this problems based on the new definition of fractional integral. Therefore, the proofs are based upon the reduction of the problem to a equivalent linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind and this analytical study is followed also by a complete numerical study.

Introduction and Preliminaries of Fractional Calculus

Summary

1.1	Histor	y, Definitions and Applications
	1.1.1	Grünwald–Letnikov derivative
	1.1.2	Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative
	1.1.3	Caputo derivative
	1.1.4	A new fractional derivative of Caputo
1.2	Differ	entiation under the Integral Sign

For the convenience of the reader, in this chapter we present here the necessary definitions and fundamental facts of the fractional calculus theory in this chapter. These definitions can and fundamental facts be found in the recent literature.

1.1 Fractional Calculus: History, Definitions and Applications

This part is aimed at the reader who wishes to learn about Fractional Calculus and its possible applications in his/her field(s) of study. The intent is to first expose the reader to the concepts, applicable definitions, and execution of fractional calculus (including a discussion of notation,

operators, and fractional order differential equations), and second to show how these may be used to solve several modern problems.

The traditional integral and derivative are, to say the least, a staple for the technology professional, essential as a means of understanding and working with natural and artificial systems. Fractional Calculus is a field of mathematics study that grows out of the traditional definitions of the calculus integral and derivative operators in much the same way fractional exponents is an outgrowth of exponents with integer value. Consider the physical meaning of the exponent. According to our primary school teachers exponents provide a short notation for what is essentially a repeated multiplication of a numerical value. This concept in itself is easy to grasp and straight forward. However, this physical definition can clearly become confused when considering exponents of non integer value. While almost anyone can verify that $x^3 = x \cdot x \cdot x$, how might one describe the physical meaning of $x^{3.4}$, or moreover the transcendental exponent $x^{1/4}$. One cannot conceive what it might be like to multiply a number or quantity by itself 3.4 times, or $\frac{1}{4}$ times, and yet these expressions have a definite value for any value x, verifiable by infinite series expansion, or more practically, by calculator. Now, in the same way consider the integral and derivative. Although they are indeed concepts of a higher complexity by nature, it is still fairly easy to physically represent their meaning. Once mastered, the idea of completing numerous of these operations, integrations or differentiations follows naturally. Given the satisfaction of a very few restrictions (e.g. function continuity), completing n integrations can become as methodical as multiplication. But the curious mind can not be restrained from asking the question what if n were not restricted to an integer value? Again, at first glance, the physical meaning can become convoluted (pun intended), but as this report will show, fractional calculus flows quite naturally from our traditional definitions. And just as fractional exponents such as the square root may find their way into innumerable equations and applications, it will become apparent that integrations of order 1/2 and beyond can find practical use in many modern problems.

The concept of fractional calculus is popularly believed to have stemmed from a question raised in the year 1695 by Marquis de L'Hopital (1661-1704) to Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz (1646-1716), which sought the meaning of Leibniz's (currently popular) notation $\frac{d^n y}{dx^n}$ for the derivative of order $n \in \mathbb{N}_0 := \{0, 1, 2, 3, \dots\}$ when n = 1/2 (What if n = 1/2?). In his reply, dated 30 September 1695, Leibniz wrote to L'Hopital as follows: "... This is an apparent paradox from which, one day, useful consequences will be drawn. ..."

Subsequent mention of fractional derivatives was made, in some context or the other, by (for example) Euler in 1730, Lagrange in 1772, Laplace in 1812, Lacroix in 1819, Fourier in

1822, Liouville in 1832, Riemann in 1847, Greer in 1859, Holmgren in 1865, Griinwald in 1867, Letnikov in 1868, Sonin in 1869, Laurent in 1884, Nekrassov in 1888, Krug in 1890, and Weyl in 1917. In fact, in his 700-page textbook, entitled "Traite du Calcul Differentiel et du Calcul Integral" (Second edition; Courcier, Paris, 1819), S. F. Lacroix devoted two pages (pp. 409-410) to fractional calculus, showing eventually that

$$\frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{dv^{\frac{1}{2}}}v = \frac{2\sqrt{v}}{\sqrt{\pi}}$$

Leibniz's response, based on studies over the intervening 300 years, has proven at least half right. It is clear that within the 20th century especially numerous applications and physical manifestations of fractional calculus have been found. However, these applications and the mathematical background surrounding fractional calculus are far from paradoxical. While the physical meaning is difficult (arguably impossible) to grasp, the definitions themselves are no more rigorous than those of their integer order counterparts. Understanding of definitions and use of fractional calculus will be made more clear by quickly discussing some necessary but relatively simple mathematical definitions that will arise in the study of these concepts. These are The Gamma Function, The Beta Function, The Laplace Transform, and the Mittag-Leffler Function.

Definition 1.1 (The Gamma Function). the gamma function (represented by Γ , the capital letter gamma from the Greek alphabet) is one commonly used extension of the factorial function to complex numbers. The gamma function is defined for all complex numbers except the nonpositive integers. For any positive integer n,

$$\Gamma(n) = (n-1)!.$$

Derived by Daniel Bernoulli, for complex numbers with a positive real part the gamma function is defined via a convergent improper integral:

$$\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty x^{z-1} e^{-x} dx, \quad \text{for all } z \in \mathbb{R}$$



Figure 1.1: The gamma function along part of the real axis

The gamma function then is defined as the analytic continuation of this integral function to a meromorphic function that is holomorphic in the whole complex plane except the nonpositive integers, where the function has simple poles. The gamma function has no zeroes, so the reciprocal gamma function $1/\Gamma$ is an entire function.

The first mention of a derivative of arbitrary order appears in a text. S. F. Lacroix [1819, pp. 409 - 410] devoted less than two pages of his 700-page text to this topic. He developed a mere mathematical exercise generalizing from a case of integer order. Strating with $y = x^m$, m a positive integer, Lacroix easily develops the n-th derivative

$$\frac{d^n y}{dx^n} = \frac{m!}{(m-n)!} x^{m-n}, \quad m \ge n$$

Using Legendre's symbol for the generalized factorial (the gamma function), he gets

$$\frac{d^n y}{dx^n} = \frac{\Gamma(m+1)}{\Gamma(m-n+1)} x^{m-n}$$

He then gives the example for y = x and $n = \frac{1}{2}$, and obtains

$$\frac{d^{1/2}y}{dx^{1/2}} = \frac{2\sqrt{x}}{\sqrt{\pi}}$$

It is interesting to note that the result obtained by Lacroix, in the manner typical of the classical formalists of this period, is the same as that yielded by the present-day Riemann-Liouville definition of a fractional derivative. Lacroix's method offered no clue as to a possible application for a derivative of arbitrary order. Now we have several definitions of the fractional derivative, we present:

1.1.1 Grünwald–Letnikov derivative

Grünwald–Letnikov derivative is a basic extension of the natural derivative to fractional one, It was introduced by Anton Karl Grünwald in 1867, and then by Aleksey Vasilievich Letnikov in 1868. Hence, it is written as

$$D^{\alpha}f(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^{\alpha}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1)^m \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ m \end{pmatrix} f(t - mh)$$

where $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and the binomial coefficient is calculated by the help of the Gamma function.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ m \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)(\alpha-2)\dots(\alpha-m+1)}{m!}$$

1.1.2 Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative

Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative acquiring by Riemann in 1847 is defined as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} {}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) &= \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n} \left({}_{a}D^{-(n-\alpha)}_{t}\right)f(t) \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n} \int_{a}^{t} \frac{f(x)}{(t-x)^{\alpha-n+1}} dx, (n=[\alpha]+1, t>a) \end{aligned}$$

where $\alpha > 0$ this operator is an extension of Cauchy's integral from the natural number to real one. Based on the fractionalization algorithm. In addition, according to the above relation, if $0 < \alpha < 1$ then the Riemann-Liouville operator reduced to

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{a}^{t}\frac{f(x)}{(t-x)^{\alpha}}dx$$

1.1.3 Caputo derivative

Since Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives failed in the description and modeling of some complex phenomena, Caputo derivative was introduced in 1967. The Caputo derivative of fractional order α $(n - 1 \leq \alpha < n)$ of function f(t) defined as

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\int_{a}^{t}\frac{D^{n}f(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha-n+1}}d\tau,$$

if $0 < \alpha < 1$ then the Caputo derivative of fractional order α defined as:

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{(\alpha)}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}\int_{a}^{t}\frac{f'(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}d\tau$$

1.1.4 A new fractional derivative of Caputo (The inverse of the new Fractional Derivative without Singular Kernel)

The authors of the article [6] suggest a new definition of fractional derivative, which assumes two different representations for the temporal and spatial variable. The first representation works on time variables, where the real powers appearing in the solutions of the usual fractional derivative will turn into integer powers, with some simplifications in the formulate and computations. In this framework, it is suitable to use the Laplace transform. The second representation is related to the spatial variables, thus for this non-local fractional derivative it is more convenient to work with the Fourier transform. The interest for this new approach is due to the necessity of using a model describing the behavior of classical viscoelastic materials, thermal media, electromagnetic systems, etc. In fact, the original definition of fractional derivative appears to be particularly convenient for those mechanical phenomena, related with plasticity, fatigue, damage and with electromagnetic hysteresis. When these effects are not present it seems more appropriate to use the new fractional derivative. We have also proposed a new non-local fractional derivative able to describe material heterogeneities and structures with different scales, which cannot be well described by classical local theories. So that, we rely that this spatial fractional derivative can play a meaningful role in the study of the macroscopic behaviors of some materials, related with non-local interactions, which are prevalent in determining the properties of the material. This work also contains some applications and simulations related to the behavior of these new derivatives, applied to classical functions such as trigonometric functions. These simulations show some similarities with the corresponding results by usual fractional derivative.

Let us recall the usual Caputo fractional time derivative (UFD_t) of order a, given by:

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{(\alpha)}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}\int_{a}^{t}\frac{f'(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}d\tau$$

with $a \in [0, 1]$ and $a \in [-\infty, t), f \in H^1(a, b)$, and b > a. By changing the kernel $(t - \tau)^{-\alpha}$ with the function $\exp\left(-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}t\right)$ and $\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}$ with $\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}$.

They obtained the following new definition of fractional time derivative NFD_t

Definition 1.2. For $\alpha \in [0,1]$, the fractional time derivative $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}u(x)$ of order (α) is defined as follow:

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} f'(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{1.1}$$

where $a \in [-\infty, x)$, b > a, $f \in H^1(a, b)$, and $M(\alpha)$ is a normalization function such that M(0) = M(1) = 1, for example $M(\alpha) = 1 - 0.2 \sin(2\pi\alpha)$, as shown in fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2: An example of a normalization function.

The following Matlab function M has used in our programs:

```
1 function y=Ma(z)
2 r=0.2;
3 y=1+r*sin(2*pi*z);
4 end
```

The NFD_t is zero when f(t) is constant, as in the UFD_t, but contrary to the UPD_t, the kernel does not have singularity for $t = \tau$. Formulated also NFD_t can also be applied to functions that do not belong to $H^1(a, b)$. Indeed, its can be formulated also for $f \in L^1(-\infty, b)$ and for any $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ as

$$\mathscr{D}_t^{(\alpha)} f(t) = \frac{\alpha M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^t (f(t) - f(\tau)) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}\right] d\tau$$

Now, it is worth to observe that if we put

$$\sigma = \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} \in [0,\infty], \alpha = \frac{1}{1+\sigma} \in [0,1]$$

the definition of NFD_t assumes the form

$$\tilde{\mathscr{D}}_{t}^{(\sigma)}f(t) = \frac{N(\sigma)}{\sigma} \int_{a}^{t} f'(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(t-\tau)}{\sigma}\right] d\tau$$

this is definition on which our study is based.

Definition 1.3. If $n \ge 1$, and $\alpha \in [0,1]$ the fractional time derivative $\mathscr{D}_t^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)$ of order $(n+\alpha)$ is defined by

$$\mathscr{D}_t^{(\alpha+n)}f(t) := D_t^{(\alpha)}\left(\mathscr{D}_t^{(n)}f(t)\right).$$

Theorem 1.1. For NFD_t , if the function f(t) is such that

$$f^{(s)}(a) = 0, s = 1, 2, ..., n$$

then, we have

$$\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(n)}\left(\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(\alpha)}f(t)\right) = \mathscr{D}_{t}^{(\alpha)}\left(\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(n)}f(t)\right)$$

Proof. [6]. We begin considering n = 1, then from definition (2.8) of $\mathscr{D}_t^{(\alpha+1)} f(t)$, we obtain

$$\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(\alpha)}\left(\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(1)}f(t)\right) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{t}\ddot{f}(\tau)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}\right]d\tau$$

Hence, after an integration by parts and assuming f'(a) = 0, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{D}_{t}^{(\alpha)}\left(\mathscr{D}_{t}^{(1)}f(t)\right) &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} \left(\frac{d}{d\tau}f'(\tau)\right) \exp{-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}} d\tau \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)} \left[\int_{a}^{t} \frac{d}{d\tau} \left(f'(\tau) \exp{-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}} d\tau \right) \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{t} f'(\tau) \exp{-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}} d\tau \right] \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)} \left[f'(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{t} f'(\tau) \exp{-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}} d\tau \right] \end{aligned}$$

otherwise

$$\mathcal{D}_{t}^{(1)}\left(\mathcal{D}_{t}^{(\alpha)}f(t)\right) = \frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{t}f'(\tau)\exp\left(-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}d\tau\right)\right)$$
$$= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\left[f'(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{t}f'(\tau)\exp\left(-\frac{\alpha(t-\tau)}{1-\alpha}d\tau\right)\right].$$

It is easy to generalize the proof for any n > 1.

Definition 1.4. Let $n \ge 1$, and $\alpha \in [0,1]$ the fractional derivative $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f$ of order $(n+\alpha)$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t) := \mathcal{D}_t^{(\alpha)} \left(\mathcal{D}^{(n)}f(t) \right)$$
$$= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_a^t f^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Such that

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{t} f^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{1.2}$$

The following MATLAB code calculates the new Caputo derivative for any C^{n+1} -continuous function.

```
1 % The goal of this program is calculate

2 % the new Caputo derivative

3 clc; close; clear all;

4 syms t s;

5 a=0; b=7;

6 alpha=1.5;

7 f(t)=t^1.5;

8 K(t)=Da(f, alpha, a)
```

```
1 function y=Da(f, alpha, a)
2 syms t s; m=floor(alpha);
3 y=int(diff(f(s),m+1)*exp((alpha-m)*(s-t)/(m+1-alpha))
4 ,s,a,t)*Ma(alpha-m)/(m+1-alpha);
5 end
```

Lemma 1.1. Let $n \ge 1$, and $\gamma \in (n, n + 1)$. If we assume $u \in C^{n+1}[a, b]$, then the fractional deferential equation

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)}u(x) = 0, \ \forall x \in [a,b]$$

has $u(x) = a_n x^n + a_{n-1} x^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 x + a_0$; $a_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 0, 1, \dots, n$, as unique solutions.

- *Proof.* 0. Let $u(x) = a_n x^n + a_{n-1} x^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 x + a_0$; $a_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 0, 1, \dots, n$, we have $u^{(n+1)}(x) = 0$ such that $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = 0, \ \forall x \in [a, b].$
 - 0. Let $\gamma \in]n, n+1[$, it can be written of the form: $\gamma = n + \alpha$ where $\alpha \in]0, 1[$, and $n = [\gamma]$, we suppose $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = 0$, $\forall x \in [a, b]$, we have

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} u^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and the Leibniz integral rule gives the formula

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dx} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) \right) &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} u^{(n+1)}(t) \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \int_{a}^{x} u^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} u^{(n+1)}(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x), \end{aligned}$$

and we have $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = 0$, consequently $u^{(n+1)}(t) = 0$ therefor,

 $u(x) = a_n x^n + a_{n-1} x^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 x + a_0; \ a_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 0, 1, \dots, n.$

The proof is complete.

Lemma 1.2. Let $\gamma \in (n, n+1), n = [\gamma] \ge 0$. Assume that $f \in C^n[a, b]$, the fractional derivative of order (γ) belongs to C[a, b].

Proof. 0. Let $x \in (a, b)$ and $s \in (a, x]$, we use part integration to prove this relation

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} f(x) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left(f^{(n)}(x) - f^{(n)}(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) - \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)^2} \int_a^x f^{(n)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Simply to say that a function $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} f$ is continuous (a, b).

0. Then, let $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ real sequence define in [a, b], which this sequence converges to $x \in [a, b]$.

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} f(x_n) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \left(f^{(n)}(x_n) - f^{(n)}(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - a)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right) \\ &- \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^{x_n} f^{(n)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} f^{(n)} \left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n \right) \\ &- f^{(n)}(a) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha \left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n - a \right)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \\ &- \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^{n \to \infty} r^n f^{(n)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha \left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n - s \right)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \left(f^{(n)}(x) - f^{(n)}(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - a)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right) \\ &- \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^x f^{(n)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ &= \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} f(x). \end{split}$$

Therefor, $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} f$ is continuous [a, b].

1.2	Differentiation	under	the	Integral	Sign
-----	-----------------	-------	-----	----------	------

Suppose a function ϕ is given by the formula

$$\phi(x) = \int_{c}^{d} f(x,t)dt, \quad a \le x \le b$$

where c and d are constants. If the integration can be performed explicitly, then $\phi'(x)$ can be found by a computation. However, even when the evaluation of the integral is impossible, it sometimes happens that $\phi'(x)$ can be found. The basic formula is given in the next theorem, known as **Leibniz' Rule**.

Theorem 1.2. Suppose that ϕ is defined by

$$\phi(x) = \int_{c}^{d} f(x, t) dt, \quad a \le x \le b$$

where c and d are constants. If fand f_x are continuous in the rectangle

$$R = \{(x,t) : a \le x \le b, \quad c \le t \le d\}$$

then

$$\phi'(x) = \int_c^d f_x(x,t)dt, \quad a < x < b$$

That is, the derivative may be found by differentiating under the integral sign.

We consider a function defined by

$$\phi(x) = \int_{u_0(x)}^{u_1(x)} f(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}t \tag{1.3}$$

where $u_0(x)$ and $u_1(x)$ are continuously differentiable functions for $a \le x \le b$ Furthermore, the ranges of u_0 and u_1 are assumed to lie between c and d. To obtain a formula for the derivative $\phi'(x)$, where ϕ is given by an integral such as eq. (1.3), it is simpler to consider a new integral which is more general than eq. (1.3). We define

$$F(x, y, z) = \int_{y}^{z} f(x, t) \,\mathrm{d}t, \qquad (1.4)$$

and obtain the following corollary of Leibniz' Rule.

Theorem 1.3. Suppose that f satisfies the conditions of Theorem (1.2) and that F is defined by (1.4) with c < y, z < d. Then

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial x} = \int_{y}^{z} f_{1}(x,t)dt \tag{1.5}$$

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial y} = -f(x,y) \tag{1.6}$$

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} = f(x, z) \tag{1.7}$$

Proof. Formula (1.5) is Theorem (1.2). Formulas (1.6) and (1.7) are precisely the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, since taking the partial derivative of F with respect to one variable, say y, implies that x and z are kept fixed.

Theorem 1.4 (General Rule for Differentiation under the Integral Sign). Suppose that f and $\partial f/\partial x$ are continuous in the rectangle

$$R = \{(x,t) : a \le x \le b, \quad c \le t \le d\}$$

and suppose that $u_0(x), u_1(x)$ are continuously differentiable for $a \le x \le b$, with the range of u_0 and u_1 in (c, d). If ϕ is given by

$$\phi(x) = \int_{u_0(x)}^{u_1(x)} f(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}t$$

then

$$\phi'(x) = f[x, u_1(x)] u_1'(x) - f[x, u_0(x)] \cdot u_0'(x) + \int_{u_0(x)}^{u_1(x)} f_x(x, t) dt.$$
(1.8)

Proof. We observe that

$$F(x, u_0(x), u_1(x)) = \phi(x),$$

in Theorem 1.5. Applying the Chain Rule, we get

$$\phi'(x) = F_x + F_y u_0'(x) + F_z u_1'(x)$$

Inserting the values of F_x, F_y , and F_z from eqs. (1.5) to (1.7), we obtain the desired result eq. (1.8).

Example 1.1. Find $\phi'(x)$, given that

$$\phi(x) = \int_0^{x^2} \arctan \frac{t}{x^2} dt$$

Solution. We have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\arctan \frac{t}{x^2} \right) = \frac{-2t/x^3}{1 + (t^2/x^4)} = -\frac{2tx}{t^2 + x^4}$$

We use formula (1.8) and find

$$\phi'(x) = (\arctan 1) \cdot (2x) - \int_0^{x^2} \frac{2txdt}{t^2 + x^4}$$

Setting $t = x^2 u$ in the integral on the right, we obtain

$$\phi'(x) = \frac{\pi x}{2} - \int_0^1 \frac{2x^3 u \cdot x^2 du}{x^4 u^2 + x^4} = \frac{\pi x}{2} - x \int_0^1 \frac{2u du}{u^2 + 1} = x \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \log 2\right).$$

Theorem 1.5 (The Cauchy Formula For Repeated Integration). The Cauchy formula for repeated integration, named after Augustin Louis Cauchy, allows one to compress n antidifferentiation of a function into a single integral. Let f be a continuous function on the real line. Then the n-th repeated integral of f based at a,

$$f^{(-n)}(x) = \int_{a}^{x} \int_{a}^{\sigma_{1}} \cdots \int_{a}^{\sigma_{n-1}} f(\sigma_{n}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_{n} \cdots \mathrm{d}\sigma_{2} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{1}$$

is given by single integration

$$f^{(-n)}(x) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} f(t) dt$$

Proof. A proof is given by induction. since f is continuous, the base case follows from the Fundamental theorem of calculus

$$\frac{d}{dx}f^{(-1)}(x) = \frac{d}{dx}\int_{a}^{x}f(t)dt = f(x)$$

where

$$f^{(-1)}(a) = \int_{a}^{a} f(t)dt = 0$$

Now, suppose this is true for n, and let us prove it for n + 1. Apply the induction hypothesis and switching the order of integration,

$$f^{-(n+1)}(x) = \int_{a}^{x} \int_{a}^{\sigma_{1}} \cdots \int_{a}^{\sigma_{n}} f(\sigma_{n+1}) d\sigma_{n+1} \cdots d\sigma_{2} d\sigma_{1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a_{x}}^{t^{\sigma}} \int_{a_{x}}^{\sigma_{1}} (\sigma_{1}-t)^{n-1} f(t) dt d\sigma_{1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (\sigma_{1}-t)^{n-1} f(t) d\sigma_{1} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n} f(t) dt$$

-	-	

l Chapter	$\boldsymbol{\bot}$

Analytical and numerical study of a nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations with conformable fractional derivation of Caputo

Sum	mary
2.1	Hypotheses
2.2	Analysis study
2.3	Uniqueness
2.4	Numerical study
2.5	System study
2.6	Error analysis
2.7	Numerical result

In this chapter, we interest concerns an integro-differential equation of Volterra when the derivative of the solution appears under the sign of integration in a non-linear way. The derivation is conformable fractional of Caputo type, which increases the interest of this study.

We built Lipchitz conditions to obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution in

a Banach space specific to the derivative of Caputo. The analytical study is followed by a complete numerical study.

It should be noted that most of the integro-differential equations which have already been studied in case of the fractional derivative of the unknown u is out integral sign as shown in the references [6, 21], or in case the derivative of the first degree of the unknown under the integral like in the articles [45, 17, 46]. The authors of [45] studied the problem from the following type:

$$u(x) = f(x) + \int_a^x K(x, s, u(s), u'(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall x \in [a, b].$$

where, $f \in C^1([a, b])$ and u is unknown, to be found in the same space, and in the paper [17], the authors studied for an integro-differential nonlinear volterra equation with weakly singular kernel as fellow

$$u(t) = \int_{a}^{t} p(t-s)K(t,s,u(s),u'(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s + f(t), \qquad \forall t \in [a,b].$$

Therefore, the object of this chapter is to study a nonlinear integro-differential equation of Volterra of the type:

$$f(x) = g(x) + \int_{a}^{x} K\left(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall x \in [a, b].$$

$$(2.1)$$

Where $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f$ is the new of fractional derivative of Caputo (NFD), without singular kernel (see [6]), and this derivative has many properties as in the reference [27].

The first work, we built Lipchitz conditions to obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution in a Banach space specific to the derivative of Caputo, then we search a method to approximate this solution and estimate error. In the last part, we give three numerical examples to illustrate the above methods for solve this type integro-differential equations. The exact solution is known and used to show that the numerical solution obtained with our methods is correct. We used MATLAB and C++ to solve these examples.

Definition 2.1. We consider the space of continuously differentiable functions

$$F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b) = \{ f \in \mathcal{C}(a,b), \quad \| f \|_{\alpha} < \infty \},$$
(2.2)

 $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ is a Banach space specific to the new Caputo derivative admits the norm

$$\| f \|_{\alpha} = \max_{x \in (a,b)} |f(x)| + \max_{x \in (a,b)} |\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x)| = \| f \|_{\infty} + \| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f \|_{\infty}.$$
(2.3)

Proposition 2.1. For $\alpha \in (0,1)$, if f is continuous on [a,b], then the function $h(x) = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x)$ is continuous on the interval [a,b].

Proof. 0. Let $x \in (a, b)$ and $s \in (a, x]$, we have that

$$\frac{d}{ds}\left(f(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\right) = f'(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] + \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}f(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right],$$

and hence

$$f'(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] = \frac{d}{ds} \left(f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\right) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]$$

Then

$$\int_{a}^{x} f'(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds = \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d}{ds} \left(f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\right) ds$$
$$-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds$$
$$= f(x) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right]$$
$$-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds,$$

as a result

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left(f(x) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) - \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1-\alpha)^2} \int_a^x f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.4)

Simply to say that a function $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f$ is continuous (a, b).

0. Then, let $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ real sequence define in [a, b], which this sequence converges to $x \in [a, b]$.

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_n) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \left(f(x_n) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - a)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right) \\ &- \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^{x_n} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] ds, \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \left(f\left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n \right) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha\left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n - a \right)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right) \right) \\ &- \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^{\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha\left(\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n - s \right)}{1 - \alpha} \right] ds, \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \left(f(x) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - a)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right) \\ &- \frac{\alpha \cdot M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^x f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] ds, \\ &= \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x). \end{split}$$

finally $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f$ is continuous on [a, b].

Proposition 2.2. $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ is a Banach space.

Proof. It is obvious that $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha}$ is a semi-norm, and since $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ is strictly positive, and $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha} \ge \|\cdot\|_{\infty}$, we see that $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha}$ is strictly positive too. Now, suppose that $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ is a Cauchy sequence.

Then,

$$\|f_n - f_m\|_{\alpha} \to 0 \quad \text{as } n, m \to \infty$$

and hence

$$||f_n - f_m||_{\infty} \to 0, \quad ||\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_m||_{\infty} \to 0, \quad \text{as } n, m \to \infty$$

Thus, the sequences $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ are Cauchy sequences in $(C([a, b], \mathbb{R}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ Since this space is complete, both sequences have limits in this space, we name these limits f and h, i.e.

$$||f_n - f||_{\infty} \to 0 \text{ and } ||\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - h||_{\infty} \to 0, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

The proof will be complete if we can show that $f \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} ||f_n - f||_{\alpha} = 0.$ From eq. (2.4) we have

$$f(x) = \frac{1-\alpha}{M(\alpha)} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) + f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] + \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} f(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

we note that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{cases} f_n(x) &= \frac{1-\alpha}{M(\alpha)} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n(x) + f_n(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_a^x f_n(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds, \end{cases} \\ \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n(x) &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left(f_n(x) - f_n(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) \\ &- \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_a^x f_n(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds \right) \end{cases}$$

We define

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{f}(x) &= \frac{1-\alpha}{M(\alpha)}h(x) + f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right] + \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{x}f(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s, \\ \tilde{h}(x) &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\left(f(x) - f(a) \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha}\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{x}f(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s \right) \end{cases}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \left\| f_n - \tilde{f} \right\|_{\infty} &= \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| f_n(x) - \tilde{f}(x) \right| \\ &\leqslant \frac{1 - \alpha}{M(\alpha)} \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n(x) - h(x) \right| \\ &+ \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| (f_n(a) - f(a)) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1-\alpha} \right] \right| \\ &+ \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \int_a^x (f_n(s) - f(s)) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\leqslant C_1 \| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - h \|_{\infty} + C_2 \| f_n - f \|_{\infty} + C_3 \| f_n - f \|_{\infty} \underset{n \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - \tilde{h} \right\|_{\infty} &= \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n(x) - \tilde{h}(x) \right| \\ &\leqslant \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| f_n(x) - f(x) \right| \\ &+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| \left(f_n(a) - f(a) \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-a)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \right| \\ &+ \sup_{x \in [a,b]} \left| \frac{\alpha M(\alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)^2} \int_a^x (f_n(s) - f(s)) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1 - \alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\leqslant C_1' \| f_n - f \|_{\infty} + C_2' \| f_n - f \|_{\infty} + C_3' \| f_n - f \|_{\infty} \underset{n \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0, \end{split}$$

i.e., f_n converges to \tilde{f} and $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n$ converges to \tilde{h} in the uniform norm. Since the limit of a sequence in normed space is unique, we deduce that $\tilde{f} = f$ and $\tilde{h} = h$. Then

$$\|f_n - f\|_{\alpha} = \|f_n - f\|_{\infty} + \|\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f\|_{\infty}$$
$$= \|f_n - f\|_{\infty} + \|\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f_n - h\|_{\infty} \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0.$$

Finally $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ is a Banach space.

2.1 Hypotheses

We consider the following nonlinear integro-differential equation of Volterra:

$$f(x) = g(x) + \int_{a}^{x} K\left(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall x \in [a, b].$$

$$(2.5)$$

where $f \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$ and f is unknown, and the function

is satisfy the following assumptions:

$$(\mathcal{H}_1) \quad \left| \begin{array}{l} a)\frac{\partial K}{\partial x} \in \mathcal{C}\left([a,b]^2 \mathbb{R}^2\right) \\ b) \exists m > 0, \forall x, s \in [a,b], \forall u, v \in \mathbb{R}, \max\left(\left|\frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x,s,u,v)\right|, |K(x,s,u,v)|\right) \leqslant m. \end{array} \right.$$

eq. (2.5) bearing several information for the solution f. If both sides of the equation are derived (using Leibniz's rule for differentiation under the integral sign) we obtain $\forall x \in [a, b]$:

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) &= \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left[\int_{a}^{s} K\left(s, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right] \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ &= \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s}(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s}\left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

So that

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) ds + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) d\tau \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds, \quad (2.6)$$

finally, we obtain

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} (x-s) \frac{\partial K}{\partial s}\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds.$$
(2.7)

Definition 2.2. For $g \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$, we define the functional Ψ_g by:

$$\begin{split} \Psi_g : & F \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \left(a, b \right) & \longrightarrow & F \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \left(a, b \right) \\ & \varphi & \longrightarrow & \Psi_g(\varphi) \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Psi_g(\varphi): & [a,b] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \\ x \longrightarrow \Psi_g(\varphi)(x) = g(x) + \int_a^x K\left(x, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Proposition 2.3. For $g \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$, the functional Ψ_g is continuous from $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ to itself.

Proof. Let $g \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$. it is obvious that $\Psi_g(\varphi)$ is continuous on (a, b). For all $x \in (a, b)$,

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} \Psi_{g}(\varphi)(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, \varphi(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) ds \\ + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, \varphi(\tau), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(\tau)\right) d\tau \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds,$$

 $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \Psi_g(\varphi)$ is a continuous function on (a, b) and bounded by the constant $||g||_{\alpha} + \lambda \beta m(b - a)(b - a + 1)$, where

$$\lambda = \max_{\alpha \in (0,1)} \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \quad \text{and} \quad \beta = \max_{a \leqslant s \leqslant x \leqslant b} \left(\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right),$$

therefore $\Psi_g(\varphi) \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b).$

Let $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of real-valued functions of the space $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$ which converge to a function $\varphi \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \Psi_g(\varphi_n)(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left(\int_a^x K\left(t, s, \varphi_n(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi_n(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x) \right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_a^x K\left(x, s, \varphi_n(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi_n(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x)$$
$$= \int_a^x \lim_{n \to +\infty} K\left(x, s, \varphi_n(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi_n(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x)$$
$$= \int_a^x K\left(x, s, \lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi_n(s), \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi_n(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x)$$
$$= \int_a^x K\left(x, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x)$$
$$= \Psi_g(\varphi)(x).$$

In this article, the purpose is to get the existence and uniqueness of the solution of eq. (2.1),

but use the minimum conditions to ensure its.

2.2 Analysis study

Theorem 2.1 (Existence). The equation (2.1) has a solution in $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$.

Proof. We define the following set:

$$E = \left\{ \varphi \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b), \begin{vmatrix} \varphi(a) = g(a), \\ |\Psi_g(\varphi)(x) - f(x)| \leq (b - a)m, \\ |\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \Psi_g(\varphi)(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f| \leq \lambda \beta m(b - a)(b - a + 1) \end{vmatrix} \right\}.$$

It is obvious that, E is convex and closed set. For all $\varphi \in E$ and all $x \in [a, b]$; $\Psi_g(\varphi)(a) = g(a)$, and

$$\left|\Psi_{g}(\varphi)(x) - g(x)\right| = \left|\int_{a}^{x} K\left(t, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}\varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s\right|$$

$$\leq (b-a)m$$

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \Psi_{g}(\varphi)(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g \right| &\leqslant \left| \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &+ \left| \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right) e^{\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha}\right]} \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \end{split}$$

$$\leqslant \lambda \beta m(b-a)(b-a+1).$$

Then, $\Psi_g(E) \subset E$. But, Ψ_g is continuous on $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$ to itself, and for all $x, x' \in [a,b]$ ($x \leq x'$)

$$\begin{split} |\Psi_{g}(\varphi)(x) - \Psi_{g}(\varphi)(x')| &\leqslant \left| \int_{a}^{x} K\left(x, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s \right. \\ &\left. - \int_{a}^{x'} K\left(x', s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + g(x) - g(x') \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \int_{a}^{x} \left[K\left(x, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) - K\left(x', s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\left. + \left| \int_{x}^{x'} K\left(x', s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s \right| + |g(x) - g(x')| \\ &\leqslant \left((b - a + 1)m + \max_{s \in [a, b]} |g'(s)| \right) |x - x'| \end{split}$$

We use the theorem Schauder for we proved that the functional Ψ_g has a fixed point in $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$. Which result that eq. (2.1) has solutions in $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$.

2.3 Uniqueness

Lemma 2.1 (see [45]). If the function h is continuous and positive on (a, b), and satisfies

$$\exists m > 0, \ h(x) \leqslant m \int_{a}^{x} h(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.8)

Then $\forall x \in [a, b], h(x) = 0.$

Proof: (see [45]). Since h(x) is continuous function on [a, b], $\exists \mu > 0$ realizes the following:

$$h(x) \leqslant \mu, \forall t \in [a, b].$$

Then,

$$h(x) \leqslant m\mu \int_{a}^{x} \mathrm{d}s = m\mu(x-a).$$

we integer

$$h(x) \leqslant m \int_{a}^{x} h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leqslant m^{2} \mu \int_{a}^{x} (s-a) \, \mathrm{d}s = m^{2} \mu \frac{(s-a)^{2}}{2}$$

If we repeat this operation n times, we get:

$$h(x) \leqslant m^n \mu \frac{(x-a)^n}{n} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

In order to prove the uniqueness of solution of eq. (2.1), we use the hypothesis:

$$(\mathcal{H}_{2})$$

$$(\mathcal{H}_{2})$$

$$|K(x, s, u, v) - K(x, s, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \leq M_{1}|u - \overline{u}| + M_{2}|v - \overline{v}|$$

$$\left|\frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x, s, u, v) - \frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x, s, \overline{u}, \overline{v})\right| \leq \overline{M}_{1}|u - \overline{u}| + \overline{M}_{2}|v - \overline{v}|$$

Theorem 2.2 (Uniqueness). The solution of eq. (2.1) is unique.

Proof.

Let $f, h \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$ two different solutions of eq. (2.1). we have:

$$f(x) = g(x) + \int_{a}^{x} K\left(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s,$$
$$h(x) = g(x) + \int_{a}^{x} K\left(x, s, h(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x - s)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} h(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(K\left(s, s, h(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} h(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right) ds + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \left(\int_{a}^{s} \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, h(\tau), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} h(\tau)\right) d\tau \right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds.$$
we define

$$R(x) = |f(x) - h(x)| + \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(x) \right|$$

$$|f(x) - h(x)| \leq \int_{a}^{x} |K(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)) - K(x, s, h(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(s))| ds$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{x} (M_{1}|f(x) - h(x)| + M_{2} |\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(x)|) ds$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{x} \max(M_{1}, M_{2}) (|f(x) - h(x)| + |\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(x)|) ds$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{x} \max(M_{1}, M_{2})R(s) ds$$

$$\leq C_{1} \cdot \int_{a}^{x} R(s) ds.$$

we use the hypothesis (\mathcal{H}_2)

$$\begin{split} \left|\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(x)\right| &\leq \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left| \int_{a}^{x} K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \right| \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\quad -K\left(s, s, h(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} h(s)\right) \right| \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\quad + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \int_{a}^{s} \left| \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\tau \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\quad - \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, \tau, f(\tau), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(\tau)\right) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\tau \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \lambda \int_{a}^{x} \max(M_{1}, M_{2}) R(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \lambda \beta(b-a) \int_{a}^{x} \max(\overline{M}_{1}, \overline{M}_{2}) R(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C_{2} \cdot \int_{a}^{x} R(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Consequently

$$R(x) \leq \max(C_1, C_2) \int_a^x R(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

Using the lemma $2.1\,$

$$R(x) \leqslant m \int_{a}^{x} R(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \xrightarrow{lemma \ 2.1} R(x) = 0, \ \forall x \in [a, b]$$

we get: $f(x) = h(x), \forall x \in [a, b].$

 _	-	_	ſ

2.4 Numerical study

Under the assumptions (\mathcal{H}_1) and (\mathcal{H}_2) , we have prove that eq. (2.1) has a unique solution $F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b)$, we introduce algorithm for finding numerical solution of eq. (2.1). Here, the interval [a,b] is divided in to N-equal sub-intervals, where $x_j = a + j \cdot l$ for all $j \in \{0 \cdots N\}$ and l = (b-a)/N. Also, using the following numerical integration formula:

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s = l \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_j f(x_j)$$

where w_j are the weights of the quadrature rule such that $\exists W > 0$, $\max_{0 \le j \le N} |w_j| \le W$, on eqs. (2.1) and (2.7) we get the system:

$$f_0 = g(a) \tag{2.9}$$

$$h_0 = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(a) = 0 \tag{2.10}$$

$$h_n = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x_n) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l \sum_{j=1}^n w_j K(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \\ + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l \sum_{j=1}^n w_j(x_n - x_j) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right]$$
(2.11)

$$f_n = g(x_n) + l \sum_{j=1}^n w_j K(x_n, x_j, f_j, h_j).$$
(2.12)

Where f_n approaches $f(x_n)$, and h_n approaches $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_n)$.

2.5 System study

In order to prove the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the system eqs. (2.9) to (2.12), we use hypotheses (\mathcal{H}_1) and (\mathcal{H}_2) :

Theorem 2.3. For l is sufficiently small, the system eqs. (2.9) to (2.12) has a unique solution.

Proof. We supposing that the space \mathbb{R}^2 has the first norm:

$$\forall \begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ \left\| U \\ V \right\|_1 = |U| + |V|$$

Now, we define:

$$\forall n \ge 1 \quad \Psi_n \begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_1 \\ \rho_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\rho_{1} = g(x_{n}) + l W_{n}K(x_{n}, x_{n}, U, V) + l \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} w_{j}K(x_{n}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j}),$$

$$\rho_{2} = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}g(x_{n}) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}l W_{n}K(x_{n}, x_{n}, U, V)$$

$$+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}l \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} w_{j}\left(K(x_{j}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j}) + (x_{n} - x_{j})\frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x_{j}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j})\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_{n} - x_{j})}{1-\alpha}\right].$$

We have:

$$\left\| \Psi_n \begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} - \Psi_n \begin{pmatrix} U' \\ V' \end{pmatrix} \right\|_1 = \left\| \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \end{pmatrix} \right\|_1$$

as result

$$\beta_{1} = l W_{n} (K (x_{n}, x_{n}, U, V) - K (x_{n}, x_{n}, U', V'))$$

$$\beta_{2} = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l W_{n} (K (x_{n}, x_{n}, U, V) - K (x_{n}, x_{n}, U', V')).$$

however

$$|\beta_1| \leq l \ W (M_1|U - U'| + M_2|V - V'|)$$

$$|\beta_2| \leq \lambda l \ W (M_1|U - U'| + M_2|V - V'|)$$

Then

$$\left\| \Psi_n \begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} - \Psi_n \begin{pmatrix} U' \\ V' \end{pmatrix} \right\|_1 = |\beta_1| + |\beta_2|$$

$$\leq l W (M_1 | U - U' | + M_2 | V - V' |)$$

$$+ \lambda l W (M_1 | U - U' | + M_2 | V - V' |)$$

$$\leq \max (WM_1 l, WM_2 l, WM_1 \lambda l, WM_2 \lambda l) \left\| \begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} U' \\ V' \end{pmatrix} \right\|_1$$

Using the theorem of Banach to get a unique solution of the previous system eqs. (2.9) to (2.12) . $\hfill \Box$

2.6 Error analysis

In this part, we want to show that the numerical method constructed in the previous section, converges to the exact solution of the eq. (2.1), we define:

$$e_n = |f_n - f(x_n)| + |h_n - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_n)|$$

We say that the method is convergent if

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\max_{0 \leqslant n \leqslant N} \{ e_n \} \right) = 0$$

For n > 0 and $\varphi \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a, b)$, we define the local consistency error by:

$$\delta(h, x_n) = \left| \int_a^x K\left(t, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s - l \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_n, x_j, \varphi_j, h_j\right) \right| \\ + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left| \int_a^x K\left(s, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ - l \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1-\alpha}\right] \right|$$

$$+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \left| \int_{a}^{x} (x-s) \frac{\partial K}{\partial s} \left(s, s, \varphi(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} \varphi(s) \right) \exp \left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] ds \\ -l \sum_{j=0}^{n} w_{j} (x_{n} - x_{j}) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x} (x_{j}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j}) \exp \left[-\frac{\alpha(x_{n} - x_{j})}{1-\alpha} \right] \right|$$

We say that the approximation method of the system eqs. (2.9) to (2.12) is consistent with eq. (2.1), if

$$\forall \varphi \in F\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}(a,b), \lim_{h \to 0} \left(\max_{0 \le n \le N} \{\delta(h,x_n)\} \right) = 0$$

Theorem 2.4. If the approximation method eqs. (2.9) to (2.12) is consistent with eq. (2.1), then

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\max_{0 \leqslant n \leqslant N} \{ e_n \} \right) = 0$$

Proof. For $n \ge 1$, we have

$$f(x_n) = g(x_n) + \int_a^{x_n} K\left(x_n, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) ds$$
$$\simeq g(x_n) + l \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_n, x_j, f(x_j), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j)\right)$$

and

$$f_n = g(x_n) + l \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K(x_n, x_j, f_j, v_j).$$

So that

$$|f(x_{n}) - f_{n}| = \left| l \sum_{j=0}^{n} w_{j} \left(K \left(x_{n}, x_{j}, f(x_{j}), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_{j}) \right) - K \left(x_{n}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j} \right) \right) \right|$$

$$\leq l W \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left| K \left(x_{n}, x_{j}, f(x_{j}), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_{j}) \right) - K \left(x_{n}, x_{j}, f_{j}, h_{j} \right) \right|$$

$$\leq l W \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left(M_{1} \left| f(x_{j}) - f_{j} \right| + M_{2} \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_{j}) - h_{j} \right| \right).$$
(2.13)

And

$$h_n = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x_n) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l \sum_{j=1}^n w_j K(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \\ + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l \sum_{j=1}^n w_j(x_n - x_j) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x}(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right].$$

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x) = \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} (x-s) \frac{\partial K}{\partial s}\left(s, s, f(s), \mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] ds$$

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_n) = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x_n) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_a^{x_n} K\left(s, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$+\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{x}(x_{n}-s)\frac{\partial K}{\partial x}\left(s,s,f(s),\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}f(s)\right)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$\simeq \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} g(x_n) + \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} l \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_j, x_j, f(x_j), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1-\alpha}\right]$$

$$+ \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} l \sum_{j=0}^{n} w_j (x_n - x_j) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x} (x_j, x_j, f(x_j), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j)) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha (x_n - x_j)}{1-\alpha}\right].$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_n) - h_n \right| &\simeq \frac{M(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha} l \left| \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_j, x_j, f(x_j), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right. \\ &\quad \left. - \sum_{j=0}^n w_j K\left(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right. \\ &\quad \left. + \sum_{j=1}^n w_j(x_n - x_j) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x}\left(x_j, x_j, f(x_j), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j)\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right. \\ &\quad \left. - \sum_{j=1}^n w_j(x_n - x_j) \frac{\partial K}{\partial x}\left(x_j, x_j, f_j, h_j\right) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x_n - x_j)}{1 - \alpha}\right] \right| \\ &\quad \left. \leqslant \lambda l \ W \sum_{j=0}^n \left(M_1 \left| f(x_j) - f_j \right| + M_2 \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j) - h_j \right| \right) \right. \\ &\quad \left. + \left(b - a \right) \lambda l \ W \sum_{j=0}^n \left(\overline{M}_1 \left| f(x_j) - f_j \right| + \overline{M}_2 \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j) - h_j \right| \right) \end{split}$$

finally

$$\left|\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}f(x_n) - h_n\right| \leq \lambda l \ W \sum_{\substack{j=0\\n}}^n (M_1 + (b-a)\overline{M}_1) \left|f(x_j) - f_j\right|$$
(2.14)

$$\lambda l W \sum_{j=0}^{n} + (M_2 + (b-a)\overline{M}_2) \left| \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_j) - h_j \right|.$$
 (2.15)

From eqs. (2.13) and (2.14) we get:

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\max_{0 \leqslant n \leqslant N} \{ e_n \} \right) = 0$$

2.7 Numerical result

Since the approximation method of eqs. (2.9) to (2.12) converges to the solution of eqs. (2.1) and (2.7), we use the trapezoidal integration method to get that the terms f_n and h_n will can not calculated exactly. but we use the iteration method of Banach for be approached its.

Example 2.1. Let's take the following nonlinear Volterra integro-differential nonlinear equation as an example:

$$\forall x \in [0,\pi]; \quad f(x) = g(x) + \int_0^x K\left(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \,\mathrm{d}s,\tag{2.16}$$

where $\alpha = 0.5$ and the kernel

$$k(x, s, u, v) = \frac{x + e^{-s} + \sin^2(s) + \left(e^{-s} - \sqrt{2}\sin(s + \frac{\pi}{4})\right)^2}{x + e^{-s} + u^2 + v^2}$$

If we take: $g(x) = \sin(x) - x$, we get $f(x) = \sin(x)$.

The following MATLAB with C++ codes solve the equation (2.16) numerically, and plot the absolute errors and the approximate solution of this equation with the exact solution.

```
1 % The goal of this program is calculate the approximate
2 %
           solution of the following problem
3 %
       u(t) = f(t) + (int(a, t)k(t, s, u, Du) ds
                                          t in [a,b]
 clc
          clear all;
4
       ;
6 alpha=0.5;
7 a=0;
8 \text{ b=pi};
10 syms t s x y;
11 S(t)=t * sin(t);
12 DS(t) = Da(S, alpha, a)
13 k(t, s, x, y) = sin(t) * (t + exp(-s) + (s + sin(s))^2
              +(\exp(-s) - \cos(s) + s \cdot \cos(s))
14
             + s * sin(s))^2) / (t + exp(-s) + x^2 + y^2)
15
16 K(t,s,x,y) = diff(k(t,s,x,y),t)
```

```
double alpha, a, b, t, h, beta, u[N+1],
9
                    v [N+1],X[N+1], l [N+1],U,DU;
10
11 alpha=0.5;
12 a=0.;
13 b=2.;
14 h=(b-a)/N;
15 beta=h*Ma(alpha)/(1-alpha);
  for (n=0;n \le N;n++)
16
        X[n] = a + h * n;
17
18 u[0] = f(a);
19 v[0] = Df(a);
20 1[0] = fabs(S(X[0]) - u[0]) + fabs(DS(X[0]) - v[0]);
  for (n=1;n\leq N;n++)
21
  {
22
23 DU=KK(X[0], X[0], u[0], v[0]) * exp(alpha * (X[0] - X[n]))
                /(1 - alpha))/2.;
24
  U = k(X[n], X[0], u[0], v[0]) / 2.;
25
       for (j=1; j < n; j++)
26
      {
27
            DU\!\!=\!\!DU\!\!+\!\!K\!K(X[j],X[j],u[j],v[j]) * exp(alpha*(X[j]
28
                             -X[n])/(1-alpha));
29
            U\!\!=\!\!U\!\!+\!\!k\left(X\left[\,n\,\right]\,,\!X\left[\,j\,\right]\,,u\left[\,j\,\right]\,,v\left[\,j\,\right]\,\right) \hspace{0.2cm};
30
      }
31
            DU=DU+KK(X[n],X[n],f(X[n])+h*U,Df(X[n]))
32
                           +beta * DU) / 2.;
33
             U=U+ k(X[n], X[n], f(X[n])+h*U, Df(X[n])
34
                           +beta*DU)/2.;
35
       v[n] = Df(X[n]) + beta *DU;
36
       u[n] = f(X[n]) + h * U;
37
       l[n] = fabs(S(X[n]) - u[n]) + fabs(DS(X[n]) - v[n]);
38
39 }
40
41 FILE *f1 , *f2 , *f3;
```

```
42 f1=fopen("Approximate.txt","w");
43 for (n=0;n\leq N;n++)
44 fprintf(f1,"%lf \setminus t %lf \setminus n", n*h , u[n]);
45 fclose(f1);
46 plot ("plot 'Approximate.txt' pointtype 5,
                              linewidth 2 ;
47
                      x * x + x
48
                      pause mouse
                                    \langle n \rangle;
  endplot();
49
  f2=fopen("Error.txt","w");
50
  for (n=0;n \le N;n++)
51
  fprintf(f2, "\%lf \land t \%lf \land n", n*h, l[n]);
52
  fclose(f2);
53
54 plot1 (" plot
                 'Error.txt' pointtype 7;
                            pause mouse \langle n^{"} \rangle;
55
56 endplot1();
57 }
58 double S(double t)
59 {
60 return t*t+t;
61 }
62 double DS(double t)
63 {
64 return 4.*t+2.*exp(-t)-2.;
65 }
66 double f(double t)
67 {
   return
68
             t*t;
69 }
70 double Df(double t)
71 {
  return 4.*t+4.*exp(-t)-4.;
72
73 }
74 double k(double t, double s, double x, double y)
```

```
75 {
76 return (t+\exp(-2.*s) -4.*s+4.*s+\exp(-s)+8.*s*s
              +8.*s*s*s + 4.*s*s*s*s + 1.)/(t
77
              +2. * \exp(-s) + 4. * x * x + y * y / 4.);
78
  }
79
  double K(double t, double s, double x, double y)
80
  {
81
82 return 1./(t+2.*exp(-s)+4.*x*x+y*y/4)
                 -(t + \exp(-2.*s) - 4.*s + 4.*s + \exp(-s))
83
                +8.*s*s+8.*s*s+4.*s*s*s+1.)
84
                 /((t+2.*exp(-s)+4.*x*x+y*y/4.)*(t
85
                +8. \exp(-s) + 4. \exp(y/4.);
86
  }
87
  double KK(double t, double s, double x, double y)
88
  {
89
            k(t, s, x, y) + (t - s) * K(t, s, x, y);
  return
90
91 }
92 double Ma(double t)
93 {
94 double r=0.2;
95 return 1 + r * sin(2 * pi * t);
96 }
```



Figure 2.1: Numerical solution of example 2.1 for (N = 32) with the exact solution, and error obtained.

N	$\max_{\alpha \in \mathcal{O}} \left(f_i - f(x_i) + h_i - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_i) \right)$
32	0≤i≤N (0.01
64	2.5E-3
128	6E-4
256	1.4E-4
512	4E-5
1024	8E-6
2048	2E-6
4096	1E-6

Table 2.1: The numerical error obtained for the example 2.1

Example 2.2. Let's take the following nonlinear Volterra integro-differential nonlinear equation as an example:

$$\forall x \in [0,\pi]; \quad f(x) = g(x) + \int_0^x K\left(x, s, f(s), \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(s)\right) \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{2.17}$$

where $\alpha = 0.5$ and the kernel

$$k(x, s, u, v) = \frac{2x + e^{-2s} + 4\sinh^2(s) + 2(e^s - 1)^2}{2x + e^{-s} + 2u^2 + v^2}$$

If we take: $g(x) = e^x - 1 - x$, we get: $f(x) = e^x - 1$.



Figure 2.2: Numerical solution of example 2.2 for (N = 32) with the exact solution, and error obtained.

Example 2.3. Let's take the following nonlinear Volterra integro-differential nonlinear equation

CHAPTER 2. VOLTERRA INTEGRO-DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS

N	$\max_{0 \le i \le N} \left(f_i - f(x_i) + h_i - \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(x_i) \right)$
32	1.8E-2
64	4.5E-3
128	1.2E-3
256	3E-4
512	7E-5
1024	2E-5
2048	4E-6
4096	1E-6

Table 2.2:	Numerical	error	obtained	for	example	2.2
------------	-----------	-------	----------	-----	---------	-----

as an example:

$$\forall x \in [0,\pi]; \quad f(x) = t^2 + \int_0^x \frac{e^{-2s} - 2e^{-s} - 4s + 4se^{-s} + 8s^2 + 8s^3 + 4s^4 + 1 + x}{x + 2e^{-s} + (2f(s))^2 + (\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)}f(s)/2)^2} \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad (2.18)$$

where $\alpha = 0.5$, we get: $f(x) = t^2 + t$.

N	$\max\left(\left f-f(x)\right +\left b-\mathcal{O}^{(\alpha)}f(x)\right \right)$
1	$\max_{0 \le i \le N} \left(J_i - J(x_i) + h_i - \mathcal{D}^{(i)} \right)$
32	4.5E-3
64	1.2E-3
128	1.2E-3
256	2.5E-4
512	2E-5
1024	4E-6
2048	1E-6

Table 2.3: Numerical error obtained for example 2.3



Figure 2.3: Numerical solution of example 2.3 for (N = 32) with the exact solution, and error obtained.

In this chapter we prove the existence and uniqueness of nonlinear integro-differential equation of Volterra with the use of the minimum of hypotheses that ensure this, and then we solved the problem numerically using numerical methods and programming the problem using the Matlab which is characterised by slowness, that needs the division of the program into two parts. A part using the Matlab and the second part using C++ which gave us satisfying results and in a short time.

Chapter

A New Definition of Fractional Integral and its Properties with a Theoretical Application

Summary

3.1	The First Definition of New Fractional Integral	55
3.2	Theoretical Application	59
3.3	The Second Definition of New Fractional Integral	64

In this chapter, we introduce a new definition of fractional integral as an inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo. By using these definitions, we obtain the basic properties of those fractional derivative and its fractional integral. Finally, we solve a class of fractional boundary value problems as a theoretical application, and we use Matlab to solve this class of fractional boundary value problems.

The usual integral and derivative are (to say the least) a staple for the new technology, essential as a means of understanding and working with natural and artificial systems. Recently, many authors have participated in the development of the fractional calculus (differentiation and integration of arbitrary order). The applications of fractional calculus often appear in the fields such as generalized voltage dividers [50], electric conductance of biological systems [14], capacitor theory[36], engineering[10], electrode-electrolyte interface models[27], feedback amplifiers, medical[14, 39], fractional order models of neurons[4], analysis of special functions[24], and fitting experimental data[5].

In this chapter, we launch a new fractional Integral operator, we investigate some properties of the new fractional Integral operator. As concerns the properties of the fractional derivative operator, we are interested in recalling some extended functions

As a theoretical application a class of fractional boundary value problems is solved. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first work that solve problem with the new concept of fractional derivative recently introduced by Caputo and Fabrizio in paper [6], which has many properties mentioned in article [27].

Lemma 3.1. Let $\alpha \in]0,1[$ and $f \in C^1[a,b]$ a non constant function. The equations

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} u(x) = f(x), \quad in \ [a, b]$$

$$(3.1)$$

$$u'(x) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha)} \left[(1 - \alpha)f'(x) + \alpha f(x) \right], \quad in \ [a, b]$$
(3.2)

have the same solution.

Proof. If u is a solution of eq. (3.1), then

$$\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} u'(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \, \mathrm{d}s = f(x)$$

and the Leibniz integral rule gives the formula

$$\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}u'(x) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{x}u'(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s = f'(x)$$
$$\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}u'(x) = \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{x}u'(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(x-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s + f'(x),$$

consequently

$$\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}u'(x) = \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}f(x) + f'(x).$$

So that

$$u'(x) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha)} \left(\alpha f(x) + (1 - \alpha)f'(x)\right)$$

Example 3.1. Let $\alpha = 0.5$, $M(\alpha) = 1$, and f(x) = x, the solution of the equation

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} u(x) = x$$

is the same solution of the equation

$$u'(x) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha)} (\alpha f(x) + (1 - \alpha)f'(x)) = \frac{1}{2}x + \frac{1}{2}.$$

Therefore

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{4}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x + c; \ c \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Lemma 3.2. Let $\gamma \in [1,2]$ and $f \in C^1[a,b]$ a non constant function, then : The equations

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)}u(x) = f(x), \quad in \ [a, b]$$
(3.3)

$$u''(x) = \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} [(2 - \gamma)f'(x) + (\gamma - 1)f(x)], \quad in \ [a, b]$$
(3.4)

have the same solution.

Proof. Let u be a solution of eq. (3.3), then, it satisfies :

$$\frac{M(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma} \int_{a}^{x} u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma-1)(x-\tau)}{2-\gamma}\right] d\tau = f(x)$$

and the Leibniz integral rule gives the formula

$$\frac{M(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma}u''(x) - \frac{(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma}\frac{M(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma}\int_a^x u''(\tau)\exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma-1)(x-\tau)}{2-\gamma}\right]d\tau = f'(x)$$
$$\frac{M(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma}u''(x) = \frac{(\gamma-1)}{2-\gamma}\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)}u(x) + f'(x)$$

So that

$$u''(x) = \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \left((2 - \gamma)f'(x) + (\gamma - 1)f(x) \right)$$

16	-	_	_	
				I
				I
				I

Example 3.2. For $\gamma = 1.5$ find the Green's function for the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = x, \ 0 \le x \le 1\\ u(0) = 0, u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

Solution: From Lemma 3.2 we have:

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)}u(x) = x, \ 0 \le x \le 1 \Leftrightarrow u''(x) = \frac{1}{2}(x+1), \ 0 \le x \le 1$$

We get a boundary value problem equivalent to boundary value problem (3.5)

$$\begin{cases} u''(x) = \frac{1}{2}(x+1), \ 0 \le x \le 1\\ u(0) = 0, u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

The homogeneous equation u'' = 0 has the fundamental solutions $u_1(x) = x$ and $u_2(x) = x - 1$ to satisfy the boundary conditions $B_0[u] = u(0) = 0$ and $B_1[u] = u(1) = 0$ respectively.

Then $W(u_1, u_2)(x) = 1$ and therefore

$$G(x,s) = \begin{cases} s(x-1) & \text{if } 0 \le s \le x \\ x(s-1) & \text{if } x \le s \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Thus solve eq. (3.6) with

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= \int_0^x sf(s)ds(x-1) + \int_x^1 (s-1)f(s)dsx \\ &= (x-1)\int_0^x s\cdot \frac{1}{2}(s+1)ds + x\int_x^1 (s-1)\cdot \frac{1}{2}(s+1)ds \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(x-1)\int_0^x (s^2+s)ds + \frac{1}{2}x\int_x^1 (s^2-1)ds \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(x-1)\left(\frac{1}{3}s^3 + \frac{1}{2}s^2\right) + \frac{1}{2}x\left(\frac{1}{3} - 1 - \frac{1}{3}x^3 + x\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{6}x^4 - \frac{1}{6}x^3 + \frac{1}{4}x^3 - \frac{1}{4}x^2 - \frac{1}{3}x - \frac{1}{6}x^4 + \frac{1}{2}x^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{12}x^3 + \frac{1}{4}x^2 - \frac{1}{3}x. \end{split}$$



Figure 3.1: Eexact solution of boundary value problem (3.5)

3.1 The First Definition of New Fractional Integral

In this section, we present our new definition as a theorem

Theorem 3.1. Let $n \ge 1$, $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. The formula :

$$I_a^{n+\alpha} f(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n [\alpha f(s) + (1-\alpha)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s$$

where $f \in C^1[a, b]$, and $M(\alpha)$, is a normalization function such that M(0) = M(1) = 1 is a new fractional integral of order $(n + \alpha)$, and it's as an inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo of order $(n + \alpha)$.

Proof. From Definitions 1.2 and 1.4, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t) &= \mathscr{D}_t^{(\alpha)}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(n)}f(t)\right) \\ &= \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_a^t f^{(n+1)}(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s, \end{aligned}$$

using the following Leibniz integral rule

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\int_{a(t)}^{b(t)} g(t,s)ds\right) = g(t,b(t)) \cdot \frac{d}{dt}b(t) - g(t,a(t)) \cdot \frac{d}{dt}a(t) + \int_{a(t)}^{b(t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}g(t,s)ds$$

and considering
$$a(t) = a$$
, $b(t) = t$, and $g(t,s) = f^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]$,

$$\Rightarrow \frac{d}{dt}b(t) = 1, \quad \frac{d}{dt}a(t) = 0, \text{ and } \frac{\partial}{\partial t}g(t,s) = -\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}f^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \text{ we obtain}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)\right) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}f^{(n+1)}(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\underbrace{\left(\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{t}f^{(n+1)}(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s\right)}_{=\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)}$$

So that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)\right) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}f^{(n+1)}(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t).$$

We then obtain

$$f^{(n+1)}(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha)} \left[(1-\alpha) \frac{d}{dt} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(t) \right) + \alpha \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(t) \right]$$

Now, using Cauchy formula for evaluating the $(n+1)^{th}$ integration of the function $f^{(n+1)}(t)$

$$\begin{split} f(t) &= \int_0^t \int_0^{t_1} \int_0^{t_2} \cdots \int_0^{t_n} f^{(n+1)}\left(t_n\right) dt_n \cdots dt_1 dt \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_0^t (t-s)^n f^{(n+1)}(t) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{n!M(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^n \left[(1-\alpha) \frac{d}{dt} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(s) \right) + \alpha \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(s) \right] \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

If we consider that $g(x) = \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(x)$

$$\Rightarrow f(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_{a}^{t} (t-s)^{n} [\alpha g(s) + (1-\alpha)g'(s)] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

Finally, we obtained an expression of the inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo as shown in the following figure:



$$f(t) = I_a^{n+\alpha} g(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n [\alpha g(s) + (1-\alpha)g'(s)] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

The proof is complete.

Lemma 3.3. Let $\gamma \in (1,2)$. If we assume $u \in C^1(0,1)$, then the fractional deferential equation

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = 0$$

has $u(x) = c_1 x + c_2$; $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ as unique solutions.

Proof. In order to prove the previous Lemma, it is sufficient to prove the following equivalence:

$$\forall x \in [a, b], \ \int_{a}^{x} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], f(x) = 0$$
(3.7)

Suppose F is an anti-derivative of f, with f continuous on [a, b]. We have that

$$F(x) - F(a) = \int_{a}^{x} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], F(x) = F(a),$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], F'(x) = 0,$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], f(x) = 0,$$

Now, using (3.7) to prove Lemma 3.3, $\forall x \in [0, 1]$ we have that

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} \int_{a}^{x} u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma}\right] d\tau = 0,$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \int_{a}^{x} u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma}\right] d\tau = 0,$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], u''(x) = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \forall x \in [a, b], u(x) = c_{1}x + c_{2}; \ c_{1}, c_{2} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Lemma 3.4. Assume that $u \in C^1(0,1)$ with a fractional derivative of order $\gamma \in (1,2)$, that belongs to C(0,1). Then, those statements holds

- 0. if u(a) = 0, then $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} I_a^{\gamma} u(x) = u(x)$.
- $0. \ I_a^{\gamma} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = u(x) + ax + b, \ a, b \in \mathbb{R}.$

Proof. 0. Let $\gamma \in]1, 2[$, we have that

$$I_a^{\gamma} u(x) = \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_a^x (x - s) [(\gamma - 1)u(s) + (2 - \gamma)u'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma}\right] d\tau.$$

Before outlining the method needed, we wish to recall the useful transformation formula

$$\int_0^x \int_0^{x_1} \int_0^{x_2} \cdots \int_0^{x_{n-1}} f(x_n) \, dx_n \cdots dx_1 = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^x (x-t)^{n-1} f(t) dt \tag{3.8}$$

For practical consideration

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x} f(t)dtdt = \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)f(t)dt$$
(3.9)

Using the formula (3.9) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} \left(I_a^{\gamma} u(x) \right) &= \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x \frac{d^2}{d\tau^2} \left[\int_a^\tau (\tau - s) u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right] \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &+ \int_a^x \frac{d^2}{d\tau^2} \left[\int_a^\tau (\tau - s) u'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right] \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &= \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u(\tau) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &+ \int_a^x u'(\tau) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &= \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u(\tau) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &+ u(\tau) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] \right]_a^x \\ &- \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u(\tau) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &= u(x) - u(a) \exp \left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \end{split}$$

0. Firstly, we have that

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma}\right] d\tau.$$

We derive both sides of the equation, we get that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dx} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) \right) &= \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} u''(x) \\ &- \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} \int_a^x u''(\tau) \exp\left[-\frac{(\gamma - 1)(x - \tau)}{2 - \gamma} \right] d\tau \\ &= \frac{M(\gamma - 1)}{2 - \gamma} u''(x) - \frac{\gamma - 1}{2 - \gamma} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) \end{aligned}$$

using the last formula

$$\begin{split} I_a^{\gamma} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) \right) &= \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_a^x (x - s) \left[(\gamma - 1) \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) + (2 - \gamma) \frac{d}{ds} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \right) \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{\gamma - 1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_a^x (x - s) \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_a^x (x - s) u''(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{\gamma - 1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_a^x (x - s) \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_a^x (x - s) u''(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= (x - a) u'(a) + \int_a^x u'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= u(x) + (x - a) u'(a) + c \\ &= u(x) + c_1 x + c_2. \end{split}$$

3.2 Theoretical Application

On the other hand, we will study the following fractional boundary value problem:

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = f(x), \ 0 \le x \le 1\\ u(0) = 0, u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

In the following, we present the Green's function of fractional differential equation boundary value problem.

Lemma 3.5. Consider a non constant function $f \in C^1(0, 1)$, u is a solution of problem (3.10) if, and only if, it satisfies the following integral equation

$$u(x) = \int_0^1 G_1(x,s)f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 G_2(x,s)f'(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{3.11}$$

where

$$G_1(x,s) = \frac{\gamma - 1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \begin{cases} s(x - 1), \ 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s - 1), \ 0 \le s \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

and

$$G_2(x,s) = \frac{2-\gamma}{M(\gamma-1)} \begin{cases} s(x-1), \ 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s-1), \ 0 \le s \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Proof. We may apply Lemma 3.4 to reduce first equation of problem (3.10) to an equivalent integral equation

$$I_a^{\gamma} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = I_a^{\gamma} f(x) + ax + b,$$

for some $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$. Consequently, the general solution of problem (3.10) is

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^x (x - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s + ax + b$$

By second equation of problem (3.10), we get b = 0 and

$$a = -\frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^1 (1 - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

Therefore, the unique solution of problem (3.10)

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^x (x - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^1 x(1 - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^x [(x - s) - x(1 - s)] [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_x^1 x(1 - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_0^x s(x - 1) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{1}{M(\gamma - 1)} \int_x^1 x(1 - s) [(\gamma - 1)f(s) + (2 - \gamma)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_0^1 G_1(x, s)f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 G_2(x, s)f'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

The proof is complete.

Example 3.3. For $\gamma = 1.75$ and $M(\alpha) = 1 - 0.2 \sin(2\pi\alpha)$, let find the Green's function for the

following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = x^2 + x, \ 0 \le x \le 1\\ u(0) = 0, u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

Solution: From Lemma 3.5 we have:

$$G_1(x,s) = \frac{15}{16} \begin{cases} s(x-1), & 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s-1), & 0 \le s \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

and

$$G_2(x,s) = \frac{5}{16} \begin{cases} s(x-1), \ 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s-1), \ 0 \le s \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Thus solve eq. (3.12) with

$$u(x) = \int_0^1 G_1(x,s)f(s) \, ds + \int_0^1 G_2(x,s)f'(s) \, ds$$

= $\frac{15}{16}(x-1)\int_0^x s(s^2+s) \, ds + \frac{15}{16}x\int_x^1 (s-1)(s^2+s) \, ds$
+ $\frac{5}{16}(x-1)\int_0^x s(2s+1) \, ds + \frac{5}{16}x\int_x^1 (s-1)(2s+1) \, ds$
= $\frac{5}{64}x^4 + \frac{25}{96}x^3 + \frac{5}{32}x^2 - \frac{95}{192}x.$



Figure 3.2: Eexact solution of boundary value problem (3.12)

Example 3.4. For $\gamma = 1.75$, let find the Green's function for the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) = x^2 + x, \ 0 \le x \le 1\\ u(0) = 0, u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

Solution: From Lemma 3.5 we have:

$$G_1(x,s) = \frac{15}{16} \begin{cases} s(x-1), \ 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s-1), \ 0 \le s \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

and

$$G_2(x,s) = \frac{5}{16} \begin{cases} s(x-1), & 0 \le x \le s \le 1\\ x(s-1), & 0 \le s \le x \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Thus solve eq. (3.13) with

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= \int_0^1 G_1(x,s) f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 G_2(x,s) f'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{15}{16} (x-1) \int_0^x s(s^2+s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{15}{16} x \int_x^1 (s-1)(s^2+s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{5}{16} (x-1) \int_0^x s(2s+1) \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{5}{16} x \int_x^1 (s-1)(2s+1) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{5}{64} x^4 + \frac{25}{96} x^3 + \frac{5}{32} x^2 - \frac{95}{192} x. \end{split}$$

Finally, we program the problem (3.13) using Matlab to get the solution u(x), as follows:

```
% The goal of this program is calculate
1
          the new Caputo derivative
2 %
   clc ; close ; clear all;
3
   syms x s;
4
   a=0; b=1; gamma=1.75;
5
   f(x) = x^2 + 1;
6
   I(x) = (int(s*(x-1))*((gamma-1)*f(s))
7
         +(2-gamma) * diff(f(s))), s, 0, x));
8
   J(x) = (int(x*(s-1)*((gamma-1)*f(s)
9
         +(2-gamma) * diff(f(s))), s, x, 1));
10
   u(x) = expand(I(x)+J(x))/Ma(amma-1)
11
```

A							
MAILAB R2019b							- U X
HOME PLOTS	APPS	EDITOR PUBLISH	VIEW			🔚 ් ම ම රට 🔁 🕄 💿 Search Documentatio	on 🔎 🌲 Sign In
New Open Save De Print	iles are ▼ ♥ Go To ▼ ♥ Q Find ▼ NAVIGATE	Insert 💽 fx 🖍 ▾ Comment % ‰ ‰ Indent 🛐 🛃 🛃 EDIT	Breakpoints BREAKPOINTS	Run Section Run and Advance RUN	Run and Time		Ā
< 🔶 🔁 🔀 📙 🕨 D: 🕨 Dc	ctorat 🕨 LaTeX 3						→ <i>P</i>
Current Folder 💿	Z Editor - D:\Docto	orat\LaTeX 3\myprotr.m					⊛ ×
🗋 Name 🔺	myprotr.m 🛪	Ma.m × +					
Caputo.m A Da.m Gig1.PNG	1 - cl 2 - sy	.c ; close ;c ms x s;	lear <u>all</u> ;				-
Ma.m	3 – a =	=0; b=1;gamma	a=1.75;				
moumen - ART3.aux moumen - ART3.log moumen - ART3.out	4 - f($(x) = x^2 + x;$	-1) * ((a > m		()	mm_2 + diff(f(g))) = 0 x)).	
Moumen - ART3.pdf	5- I($(\mathbf{x}) = (\operatorname{Int}(\mathbf{S}^{*}))$	((gan	una-1) ^1 (S) +	(z-ga	$\operatorname{anuma} (\mathbf{S}) (\mathbf{S}) (\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{X}) ;$	
moumen - ART3.syn	e- J	$(\mathbf{x}) = (int)(\mathbf{x}) $	s−1)*((gam	ma-1)*f(s)+	(2-ga	amma)*diff(f(s))),s,x,1));	
moumen - ART4.aux moumen - ART4.log	7 – u ((x) = expand(]	[(x)+J(x))	/Ma (gamma-1)		
Ma.m (Function)	Command Window						\odot
Workspace 💿	New to MATLAB? S	ee resources for <u>Getting Started</u> .					×
Name Valu a 0 1 b 1	u (x)	=					Â
Image: Non-State Image: Non-State Image: Non-State	(5*x^	4)/64 + (25*	x^3)/96 +	(5*x^2)/32	- (9	5*x) /192	
₩ 1v1 « < >>	fx >>						~

3.3 The Second Definition of New Fractional Integral

In this section, we introduce a new definition of fractional integral as a theorem:

Theorem 3.2. Let $n \ge 1$, $\alpha \in [0,1]$, and $f \in C^1[a,b]$. The formula :

$$I_a^{n+\alpha} f(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^{n-1} [\alpha(t-s) + n(1-\alpha)] f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

where $f \in C^1[a, b]$, and $M(\alpha)$, is a normalization function such that M(0) = M(1) = 1 is a new fractional integral of order $(n + \alpha)$.

Proof. From Definitions 1.2 and 1.4, we obtain

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(x) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{t} f^{(n+1)}(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and Leibniz integral rule gives the formula

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)\right) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}f^{(n+1)}(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\int_{a}^{t}f^{(n+1)}(s)\exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s$$

So that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t)\right) = \frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}f^{(n+1)}(t) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)}f(t).$$

We then obtain

$$f^{(n+1)}(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha)} \left[(1-\alpha) \frac{d}{dt} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(t) \right) + \alpha \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(t) \right].$$

Now, we use the Cauchy formula for evaluating the $(n+1)^{th}$ integration of the function $f^{(n+1)}(t)$

$$f(t) = \frac{1}{n!M(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-s)^{n} \left[(1-\alpha)\frac{d}{ds} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(s) \right) + \alpha \mathscr{D}^{(\alpha+n)} f(s) \right] \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Finally, we get

$$I_a^{n+\alpha} f(t) = \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n [\alpha f(s) + (1-\alpha)f'(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s$$

= $\frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^{n-1} [\alpha(t-s) + n(1-\alpha)]f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$

Lemma 3.6. Let $\gamma \in (n, n + 1), n = [\gamma] \ge 0$. Assume that $u \in C^n[a, b]$, then those statements holds:

0.
$$I_a^{\gamma} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(t) \right) = u(t) + \sum_{i=0}^n a_i t^i, \ a_i \in \mathbb{R} \ i = 0, 1, \dots, n.$$

0. if $u(a) = 0$, then $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} \left(I_a^{\gamma} u(t) \right) = u(t).$

Proof. 0. Let $\gamma \in]n, n + 1[$, it can be written in the form: $\gamma = n + \alpha$ where $\alpha \in]0, 1[$, and $n = [\gamma]$, we have

$$\begin{split} I_a^{\gamma}\left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(t)\right) &= \frac{1}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^{n-1} [\alpha(t-s) + n(1-\alpha)] \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s. \\ &= \frac{\alpha}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{(1-\alpha)}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n \frac{d}{ds} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s)\right) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{\alpha}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{(1-\alpha)}{M(\alpha) \cdot n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n \left(\frac{M(\alpha)}{1-\alpha} u^{(n+1)}(s) - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(s)\right) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_a^t (t-s)^n u^{(n+1)}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &= u(t) + \sum_{i=0}^n a_i t^i, \ a_i \in \mathbb{R} \ i = 0, 1, \dots, n \end{split}$$

0. Let $\gamma \in]n, n+1[$, it can be written in the form: $\gamma = n + \alpha$ where $\alpha \in]0, 1[$, and $n = [\gamma]$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} \left(I_a^{\gamma} u(t) \right) &= \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \int_a^t \frac{d^{(n+1)}}{ds^{(n+1)}} \left[\frac{1}{n!} \int_a^s (s-x)^n u(x) \mathrm{d}x \right] \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_a^t \frac{d^{(n+1)}}{ds^{(n+1)}} \left[\frac{1}{n!} \int_a^s (s-x)^n u'(x) \mathrm{d}x \right] \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \int_a^t u(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_a^t u'(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \int_a^t u(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ u(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \Big|_a^t - \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \int_a^t u(s) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-s)}{1-\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= u(t) - u(a) \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha(t-a)}{1-\alpha} \right] \\ &= u(t). \end{split}$$

-	_	_	
			L
			L
			L

Chapter

Analytical and Numerical Study for a Fractional Boundary Value Problem with a conformable fractional derivative of Caputo and its Fractional Integral

Sum	mary
4.1	Analytic Study
4.2	Existence and uniqueness of the solution
4.3	Numerical study
4.4	Numerical result

We study the existence and uniqueness of the solution of a fractional boundary value problem with conformable fractional derivation of the Caputo type, which increases the interest of this study. In order to study this problem we have introduced a new definition of fractional integral as an inverse of the conformable fractional derivative of Caputo, therefore, the proofs are based upon the reduction of the problem to a equivalent linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind, and we have built the minimum conditions to obtain the existence and uniqueness of this solution. The analytical study is followed by a complete numerical study.

Recently, papers have been published that deal with the existence and multiplicity of the solution of nonlinear initial fractional differential equation by the use of techniques of nonlinear analysis, see [36, 26, 39, 54]. However, most of the papers offer the problem using the standard Riemann-Liouville differentiation. However, Our aim is to study the existence and the uniqueness of the solution for a class of fractional boundary value problems. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first work that solves problem with the conformable fractional derivative by Caputo and Fabrizio in paper [6], which has many properties mentioned in the article [27]. The interest for in this new approach is due to the necessity of using a model to describe the behavior of classical viscoelastic materials, electromagnetic systems, thermal media, etc. In fact, the original definition of Caputo's fractional derivative appears to be particularly convenient for those mechanical phenomena, related to damage and with electromagnetic hysteresis, fatigue and plasticity. When these effects are not present it seems more appropriate to use the new fractional derivative [6].

In this chapter, We study the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the fractional differential equation boundary value problem, as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), & 0 \le x \le 1 \\ u(0) = u(1) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

where $1 < \gamma < 2$ is a real number, q is the potential function, and $f: [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous. and $\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)}$ is the new fractional derivative, and we introduce a new definition of its fractional integral with some properties, using this fractional integral upon problem (4.1) to obtain an equivalent linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of second kind. Finally, by the means of some theorems, the existence and uniqueness of solutions are obtained, and we introduce an algorithm for finding a numerical solution of this problem class.

4.1 Analytic Study

In the following, we suppose the function $M(\alpha) = 1$.

Lemma 4.1. Given $q \in C[0, 1]$, and $1 < \gamma < 2$, the solution of

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$

$$u(0) = u(1) = 0$$
(4.2)

satisfies the following linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind

$$u(x) + \int_0^x G(x,s)u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 K(x,s)u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s = g(x) \tag{4.3}$$

where $g(x) = \int_0^x (x-1)(\alpha s - 1 + \alpha)f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 x(\alpha s - 1)f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s,$
 $G(x,s) = (x-1)(\alpha s - 1 + \alpha)q(s) \text{ and } K(x,s) = x(\alpha s - 1)q(s).$

Proof. We may apply Lemma 3.6 to reduce Eq. (4.2) to an equivalent integral equation

$$I_0^{\gamma} \left(\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) \right) = I_0^{\gamma} \left(f(x) - q(x)u(x) \right)$$

$$\Rightarrow u(x) + cx + d = \int_0^x \left[\alpha(x-s) + (1-\alpha) \right] \left(f(s) - q(s)u(s) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Using boundary conditions u(0) = u(1) = 0, we have d = 0, and

$$c = \int_0^1 (1 - \alpha s) (f(s) - q(s)u(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Therefore, the unique solution of problem (4.2) is

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= \int_0^x [\alpha(x-s) + (1-\alpha)] \left(f(s) - q(s)u(s) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_0^1 x(\alpha s - 1) \left(f(s) - q(s)u(s) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_0^x [\alpha(x-s) + (1-\alpha)] f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 x(\alpha s - 1) f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \int_0^x [\alpha(x-s) + (1-\alpha)] q(s)u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_0^1 x(\alpha s - 1) q(s)u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= g(x) - \int_0^x G(x,s)u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_0^1 K(x,s)u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

The proof is complete.

4.2 Existence and uniqueness of the solution

The classical approach to proving the existence and uniqueness of the solution of (4.3) is the Picard method. This consists of the simple iteration for n = 1, 2, ...

$$u_n(x) = g(x) + \int_0^x G(x,s)u_{n-1}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 K(x,s)u_{n-1}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{4.4}$$

with $u_0(x) = g(x)$. For ease of manipulation, it is convenient to introduce

$$v_n(x) = v_n(x) - v_{n-1}(x), \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.5)

with $v_0(x) = g(x)$. On subtracting from (4.4), the same equation with n replaced by n - 1, an we see that

$$v_n(x) = \int_0^x k(x,s)v_{n-1}(s)ds, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Also, from (4.5)

$$u_n(x) = \sum_{i=0}^n v_i(x)$$
 (4.6)

The following theorem uses this iteration to prove the existence and uniqueness of the solution under quite restrictive conditions, namely that G(x, s), K(x, s) and g(x) are continuous.

Theorem 4.1. If g(x) is continuous in $0 \le x \le 1$, and the function K(x,s), G(x,s) are continuous in $0 \le s \le x \le 1$, and $\max_{0 \le s \le x \le 1} |K(x,s)| < 1$, then the integral equation (4.3) possesses a unique continuous solution for $0 \le x \le 1$.

Proof. Choose M_1 , M_2 and M_3 such that

$$|g(x)| \leq M_1, \quad 0 \leq x \leq 1$$

$$|G(x,s)| \leq M_2, \quad 0 \leq s \leq x \leq 1$$

$$|K(x,s)| \leq M_3, \quad 0 \leq s \leq x \leq 1 \text{ where } M_3 < 1$$

We first prove by induction that

$$|v_n(x)| \leqslant \frac{M_1(M_2x)^n}{n!} + M_1M_3^n, \quad 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$
(4.7)

this bound makes it obvious that the sequence $u_n(x)$ in (4.6) converges, and we can write

$$u(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_i(x) \tag{4.8}$$

We now show that this u(x) satisfies equation (4.3). The series (4.8) is uniformly convergent since the terms $v_i(x)$ are dominated by $M_1(M_2x)^i/i! + M_1M_3^i$. Consequently, we can interchange the order of integration and summation in the following expression to obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_0^x G(x,s) \sum_{i=0}^\infty v_i(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 K(x,s) \sum_{i=0}^\infty v_i(s) \, \mathrm{d}s &= \sum_{i=0}^\infty \int_0^x G(x,s) v_i(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^\infty \int_0^1 K(x,s) v_i(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^\infty v_{i+1}(s) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^\infty v_i(s) - g(x). \end{split}$$

Each of the $v_i(x)$ is clearly continuous. Therefore u(x) is continuous, since it is the limit of a uniformly convergent sequence of continuous functions.

To show that u(x) is the only continuous solution, suppose there exists another continuous solution $\tilde{u}(x)$ of (4.3) Then

$$u(x) - \tilde{u}(x) = \int_0^x G(x,s)(u(s) - \tilde{u}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 K(x,s)(u(s) - \tilde{u}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{4.9}$$

since f(x) and $\tilde{f}(x)$ are both continuous, there exists a constant C such that

$$|u(x) - \tilde{u}(x)| \leq C, \quad 0 \leq x \leq 1$$

Substituting this into (4.9)

$$|u(x) - \tilde{u}(x)| \leqslant C(M_2 x + M_3), \quad 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1$$

and repeating the step shows that

$$|u(x) - \tilde{u}(x)| \leq C\left(\frac{(M_2 x)^n}{n!} + M_3^n\right), \quad 0 \leq x \leq 1, \text{ for any } n.$$
For a large enough n, the right-hand side is arbitrarily small, therefore, we must have

$$u(x) - \tilde{u}(x), \quad 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1$$

Theorem 4.2. If f(x), q(x) are continuous in [0,1], and $\max_{0 \le x \le 1} |q(x)| < 1$, then the fractional boundary value problem (4.1) possesses a unique continuous solution for $0 \le x \le 1$.

Proof. If f(x), q(x) are continuous in [0, 1], then it is clear that the following functions

$$g(x) = \int_0^x (x-1)(\alpha s - 1 + \alpha)f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^1 x(\alpha s - 1)f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

$$G(x,s) = (x-1)(\alpha s - 1 + \alpha)q(s),$$

$$K(x,s) = x(\alpha s - 1)q(s),$$

are continuous, and $|K(x,s)| = |x(\alpha s - 1)q(s)| \leq |q(s)| < 1$, $\forall x, s \in [0,1]$, which means that integral equation (4.3) possesses a unique continuous solution for $0 \leq x \leq 1$. Therefore, there is a unique continuous solution of the fractional boundary value problem (4.1) for $0 \leq x \leq 1$. \Box

4.3 Numerical study

In this section, we introduce an algorithm for finding a numerical solution of linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind, the methods based upon trapezoidal rule. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, Here the interval [0, 1] in to N equal sub-intervals, where h = (b - a)/N, and $x_i = a + i \cdot h$ for all $i \in \{0 \cdots N\}$.

The formula of the numerical integration is:

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \approx \frac{h}{2} \left[f(a) + 2\sum_{j=1}^{N} f(x_j) + f(b) \right]$$

we apply this formula in eq. (4.3), and we obtain:

$$g(x_i) = u(x_i) + \frac{h}{2} \left[G(x_i, x_0)u(x_0) + 2\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} G(x_i, x_j)u(x_j) + G(x_i, x_i)u(x_i) \right] \\ + \frac{h}{2} \left[K(x_i, x_0)u(x_0) + 2\sum_{j=1}^{N-1} K(x_i, x_j)u(x_j) + K(x_i, x_N)u(x_N) \right]$$

$$\Rightarrow \forall i = 0, \dots, N, \ g_i = u_i + \frac{h}{2} \left[G_{i0} u_0 + 2 \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} G_{ij} u_j + G_{ii} u_i \right] \\ + \frac{h}{2} \left[K_{i0} u_0 + 2 \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} K_{ij} u_j + K_{iN} u_N \right]$$

This leads to

$$\frac{h}{2}(G_{i0} + K_{i0})u_0 + h\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (G_{ij} + K_{ij})u_j + \frac{h}{2}\left(\frac{2}{h} + G_{ii} + 2K_{ii}\right)u_i$$
$$+ h\sum_{j=i+1}^{N-1} K_{ij}u_j + \frac{h}{2}K_{iN}u_N = g_i$$

Finally, we get a system of N + 1 equations, which is:

$$AU = B \tag{4.10}$$

when $B = (g_0, g_1, \ldots, g_N)$, $U = (u_0, u_1, \ldots, u_N)$, and $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=0,\ldots,N}$;

$$a_{ij} = \begin{cases} h \cdot K_{00}/2 + 1 & \text{if } i = j = 0, \\ h \cdot K_{0j} & \text{if } j = 1, \dots, N - 1, \\ h \cdot K_{0j}/2 & \text{if } j = N, \\ h \cdot (G_{i0} + K_{i0})/2 & \text{if } i = 1, \dots, N, \\ h \cdot (G_{ii} + 2K_{ii})/2 + 1 & \text{if } i = j = 1, \dots, N - 1, \\ h \cdot (G_{ii} + K_{ii})/2 + 1 & \text{if } i = j = N, \\ h \cdot K_{iN}/2 & \text{if } i = 1, \dots, N - 1, \\ h \cdot (G_{ij} + K_{ij}) & \text{if } i = 2, \dots, N, j = 1, \dots, i - 1, \\ h \cdot K_{ij} & \text{if } i = 1, \dots, N - 1, j = i + 1, \dots, N - 1, \end{cases}$$

$$A = h \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \frac{K_{00}}{2} + \frac{1}{h} & K_{01} & K_{02} & \cdots & K_{0N-1} & \frac{K_{0N}}{2} \\ \frac{K_{10} + G_{10}}{2} & \frac{K_{11} + G_{11}}{2} + \frac{1}{h} & K_{12} & \cdots & K_{1N-1} & \frac{K_{1N}}{2} \\ \frac{K_{20} + G_{20}}{2} & \frac{K_{21} + G_{21}}{2} & \frac{K_{22} + G_{22}}{2} + \frac{1}{h} & \cdots & \vdots & \frac{K_{1N}}{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \frac{K_{10} + G_{N0}}{2} & \frac{K_{N1} + G_{N1}}{2} & \cdots & \cdots & \frac{K_{N-1N-1} + G_{N-1N}}{2} + \frac{1}{h} & \frac{K_{NN} + G_{NN}}{2} + \frac{1}{h} \end{pmatrix}$$

We have chosen to write our system in its general matrix form without taking into account the fact that $u_0 = u_N = 0$. However, we can see that

$$g_0 = K_{0j} = 0, \ \forall j \in \{0 \dots N\} \Rightarrow u_0 = 0.$$

In same way, we get $u_N = 0$.

4.4 Numerical result

In this section, we give three numerical examples to illustrate the above methods for solve the linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind. The exact solution is known and used to show that the numerical solution obtained with our methods is correct. We used MATLAB to solve these examples.

Example 4.1. Consider the following Fractional Boundary value problem:

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$

$$u(0) = u(1) = 0$$
(4.11)

where $\gamma = 1.5$, q(x) = 1, and

$$f(x) = \frac{39xe^x - 8e^{-x} - 9e^x - 2xe^{-x} - 17x + 17}{20},$$

with the exact solution $u(x) = (e^x - 1)(x - 1)$.

The following MATLAB code solves the equation (4.11) numerically, and plot the absolute errors and the approximate solution of this equation with the exact solution.

```
1 % ce programe qui calcul la solution approchee de la ...
    probleme
2 % ...
    u(t) = f(t) + (int(a,t)k1(t,s,u(s))ds + (int(a,b)k2(t,s,u(s))ds ...
       t in [a,b]
          clear;
3 clc
      ;
5 gamma=1.5;
6 alpha=gamma-floor (gamma);
7 a=0;
8 b=1;
9 N=16;
10 h=(b-a)/N;
11 tic
13 syms t s ;
14 u(t) = (t - 1) * (exp(t) - 1);
15 q(t)=1+0*t;
16 f(t) = \sinh(t) + (\exp(t) - 1) * (t - 1) + t * \exp(t);
17 V(t,s) = (alpha * (t - s) + 1 - alpha) * q(s);
18 F(t, s) = t * (alpha * s - 1) * q(s);
19 g(t) = int(V(t,s) * f(s), s, 0, t) + int(F(t,s) * f(s), s, 0, 1);
for n=1:N+1
21
     X(n) = a + h * (n - 1);
22
     B(n) = g(X(n));
23
24 end
 for i=1:N+1
25
     for j=1:N+1
26
      v1(i, j) = V(X(i), X(j));
27
      v2(i,j) = F(X(i),X(j));
28
     end
29
30 end
```

```
31
32 A=zeros (N+1,N+1);
33 for i=1:N+1
      for j=1:N+1
34
       v1(i,j)=V(X(i),X(j));
35
       v2(i, j) = F(X(i), X(j));
36
37
      end
38 end
39 A(1,1)=1+h*v2(1,1)/2;
40 for j=2:N
       A(1, j) = h * v2(1, j);
41
42 end
43 A(1,N+1)=h*v2(1,N+1)/2;
  for i=2:N
44
       A(i, 1) = h * (v1(i, 1) + v2(i, 1)) / 2;
45
       A(i, i) = 1 + h * (v1(i, i) + 2 * v2(i, i)) / 2;
46
       A(i, N+1) = h * v2(i, N+1) / 2;
47
48 end
49 A(N+1,1)=h*(v1(N+1,1)+v2(N+1,1))/2;
50 A(N+1,N+1)=1+h*(v1(i,i)+v2(i,i))/2;
  for i = 3:N+1
51
       for j = 2: i - 1
52
       A(i, j) = h * (v1(i, j) + v2(i, j));
53
54
      end
55 end
  for i=2:N
56
       for j=i+1:N
57
       A(i, j) = h * v2(i, j);
58
59
      end
60 end
61 U=vpa(inv(A))*B';
62 for i=1:N+1
      r(i) = vpa(abs(U(i) - u(X(i))));
63
```

CHAPTER 4. ANALYTICAL AND NUMERICAL STUDY FOR A FRACTIONAL BVP

- 64 end
 65 toc
 66 plot (X,U);
 67 grid on;
 68 plot (X,r);
- 69 grid on;



Figure 4.1: The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.1) with N = 16.

Example 4.2. Consider the following Fractional Boundary value problem:

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$

$$u(0) = u(1) = 0$$
(4.12)

where $\gamma = 1.35$, q(x) = 1, and

$$f(x) = \frac{3(169\pi^2 + 49)\sin(\pi x) + 780\pi^3(\cos(\pi x) - e^{-7x/13}) - 420\pi^2\sin(\pi x))}{169\pi^2 + 49}$$

with the exact solution $u(x) = 3\sin(\pi x)$.



Figure 4.2: The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.2) with N = 128.

Example 4.3. Consider the following Fractional Boundary value problem:

$$\mathscr{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$

 $u(0) = u(1) = 0$ (4.13)

where $\gamma = 1.75, \ q(x) = \frac{19 + 2e^{-x}}{20}, \ and$

$$f(x) = \frac{x(x+\cos(\pi x))(2e^{-x}+19)}{20} - (\pi^2 - 9)\frac{4\pi^2(\cos(\pi x) + e^{-3x})}{(\pi^2 + 9)^2} + \frac{8}{3}(1 - e^{-3x}) + \frac{(3x + 8\pi^2)\cos(\pi x) + (x - 30)\pi\sin(pix) + \pi e^{-3x}}{(\pi^2 + 9)^2}$$

with the exact solution $u(x) = x(\cos(\pi x) + x)$.



Figure 4.3: The Absolute Error of Test Example (4.3) with N = 16.

Example 4.4. Consider the following Fractional Boundary value problem:

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\gamma)} u(x) + q(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$

$$u(0) = u(1) = 0$$
(4.14)

where $\gamma = 1.9$, q(x) = t - 1, and f(x) = 10x. In this case, we don't know the exact solution.

The following MATLAB code solves the equation (4.14) numerically, and plot the approximate solution of this equation.

```
1 % ce programe qui calcul la solution approchee de la ...
    probleme
2 % ...
    u(t) = f(t) + (int(a,t)k1(t,s,u(s)))ds + (int(a,b)k2(t,s,u(s)))ds \dots
       t in [a,b]
3 clc
      ;
         clear;
4
 gamma=1.9;
5
 alpha=gamma-floor (gamma);
\mathbf{6}
7
 a = 0;
```

```
8 b=1;
9 N=16;
10 h=(b-a)/N;
12 syms t s ;
13 q(t)=t-1;
14 f(t)=10 * t;
15 V(t,s)=(alpha*(t-s)+1-alpha)*q(s);
16 F(t, s) = t * (alpha * s - 1) * q(s);
17 g(t) = int (V(t, s) * f(s), s, 0, t) + int (F(t, s) * f(s), s, 0, 1);
for n=1:N+1
19
      X(n) = a + h * (n - 1);
20
      B(n)=g(X(n));
21
22 end
  for i=1:N+1
23
     for j=1:N+1
24
      v1(i, j) = V(X(i), X(j));
25
      v2(i, j) = F(X(i), X(j));
26
27
     end
28 end
29
30 A=zeros(N+1,N+1);
31 for i=1:N+1
     for j=1:N+1
32
      v1(i, j) = V(X(i), X(j));
33
      v2(i, j) = F(X(i), X(j));
34
     end
35
36 end
37 A(1,1)=1+h*v2(1,1)/2;
38 for j=2:N
      A(1, j) = h * v2(1, j);
39
40 end
```

```
41 A(1,N+1)=h*v2(1,N+1)/2;
42 for i=2:N
       A(i, 1) = h * (v1(i, 1) + v2(i, 1)) / 2;
43
       A(i, i) = 1 + h * (v1(i, i) + 2 * v2(i, i)) / 2;
44
       A(i, N+1) = h * v2(i, N+1) / 2;
45
46 end
47 A(N+1,1)=h*(v1(N+1,1)+v2(N+1,1))/2;
48 A(N+1,N+1)=1+h*(v1(i,i)+v2(i,i))/2;
  for i=3:N+1
49
      for j = 2: i - 1
50
       A(i, j) = h * (v1(i, j) + v2(i, j));
51
      end
52
53 end
54 for i=2:N
      for j=i+1:N
55
       A(i, j) = h * v2(i, j);
56
      end
57
58 end
59 U=vpa(inv(A))*B';
60 plot (X,U);
61 grid on;
```



Figure 4.4: The approximate solution of test Example (4.4) with N = 32.

Conclusion

In this thesis, we first dealt with some Volterra integro-differential problems in fractional calculus by using the new derivative of Caputo, and we proved the existence and uniqueness of each solution of this problems. Convergences of the obtained solutions are also justified in order to establish that the formal solutions are analitic solutions. Afterwards, we have examined with a conformable fractional derivative of Caputo and its Fractional Integral. Considered problem reduced to the equivalent linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations of the second kind.

As perspectives, we will try to study the generalized Fractional Boundary Value Problem with with a conformable fractional derivative of Caputo and its Fractional Integral. This generalized version represents a challenge from the analytical point of view, i.e. the existence and uniqueness of the solution. However, the numerical side remains the same.

Bibliography

- Abbasbandy S, Taati A. Numerical solution of the system of nonlinear Volterra integrodifferential equations with nonlinear differential part by the operational Tau method and error estimation. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics. 2009 Sep 1;231(1):106-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2009.02.014 (2009).
- [2] Atkinson K, Han W. Theoretical numerical analysis. Berlin: Springer; 2005.
- Bai, Z., Lü, H. Positive solutions for boundary value problem of nonlinear fractional differential equation. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 311 (2005) 495 -505.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2005.02.052. (2005).
- [4] Baleanu, D., Guvenc, Z.B., Machado, J.A.T. New Trends in Nanotechnology and Fractional Calculus Applications, 1st edn. Springer, Netherlands (2010).

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3293-5.

- [5] Błasik, M., Klimek, M. Exact Solution of Two-Term Nonlinear Fractional Differential Equation with Sequential Riemann-Liouville Derivatives. Advances in the Theory and Applications of Non-Integer Order Systems, 161-170. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-00933-9_14.
- [6] Caputo M, Fabrizio M. A new definition of fractional derivative without singular kernel.
 Progr. Fract. Differ. Appl. 2015 Apr;1(2):1-3. https://doi.org/10.12785/pfda/010201.
- [7] Caputo M. Linear models of dissipation whose Q is almost frequency independent—II.
 Geophysical Journal International. 1967 Nov 1;13(5):529-39.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-246x.1967.tb02303.x.

- [8] Darania P, Ivaz K. Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equations. Computers & Mathematics with Applications. 2008 Nov 1;56(9):2197-209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa.2008.03.045.
- [9] Dastjerdi HL, Ghaini FM. Numerical solution of Volterra-Fredholm integral equations by moving least square method and Chebyshev polynomials. Applied Mathematical Modelling.
 2012 Jul 1;36(7):3283-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2011.10.005.
- [10] Diethelm K. The analysis of fractional differential equations: An application-oriented exposition using differential operators of Caputo type. Springer Science & Business Media; 2010 Sep 3.
- [11] Ebadi G, Rahimi-Ardabili MY, Shahmorad S. Numerical solution of the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations by the Tau method. Applied mathematics and computation. 2007 May 15;188(2):1580-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2006.11.024.
- [12] Eshkuvatov ZK, Kammuji M, Taib BM, Long NN. Effective approximation method for solving linear Fredholm-Volterra integral equations. Numerical Algebra, Control & Optimization. 2017 Feb 1;7(1):77. https://doi.org/10.3934/naco.2017004.
- [13] Dastjerdi HL, Ghaini FM. Numerical solution of Volterra-Fredholm integral equations by moving least square method and Chebyshev polynomials. Applied Mathematical Modelling.
 2012 Jul 1;36(7):3283-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2011.10.005.
- [14] Esmaili S, Nasresfahani F, Eslahchi MR. Solving a fractional parabolic-hyperbolic free boundary problem which models the growth of tumor with drug application using finite difference-spectral method. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals. 2020 Mar 1;132:109538.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2019.109538.

- [15] Feldstein A, Sopka JR. Numerical methods for nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis. 1974 Sep;11(4):826-46.
 https://doi.org/10.1137/0711067.
- [16] Ganjiani M. Solution of nonlinear fractional differential equations using homotopy analysis method. Applied Mathematical Modelling. 2010 Jun 1;34(6):1634-41.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2009.09.011 (2010).

- [17] Ghiat M, Guebbai H. Analytical and numerical study for an integro-differential nonlinear volterra equation with weakly singular kernel. Computational and Applied Mathematics. 2018 Sep 1;37(4):4661-74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40314-018-0597-3 (2018).
- [18] Guebbai H, Aissaoui MZ, Debbar I, Khalla B. Analytical and numerical study for an integro-differential. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2014 Feb 25;229:367-73.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2013.12.046 (2014).
- [19] Hilfer, R. Applications of Fractional Calculus in Physics. World Scientific, Singapore (2003).
- [20] Iskenderoglu, G.; Kaya, D. Symmetry analysis of initial and boundary value problems for fractional differential equations in Caputo sense. Chaos, Solitons and Fractals, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2020.109684.
- [21] Jaradat H, Awawdeh F, Rawashdeh EA. Analytic Solution of Fractional Integro-Differential Equations. Annals of the University of Craiova-Mathematics and Computer Science Series. 2011 Mar 18;38(1):1-0.

https://doi.org/10.2478/s13540-014-0154-8.

- [22] Jiang W, Tian T. Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations of fractional order by the reproducing kernel method. Applied Mathematical Modelling. 2015 Aug 15;39(16):4871-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2015.03.053.
- [23] Karaaslan MF, Celiker F, Kurulay M. A hybridizable discontinuous Galerkin method for a class of fractional boundary value problems. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics. 2018 May 1;333:20-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2017.09.043.
- [24] Kilbas AA, Srivastava HM, Trujillo JJ. Theory and applications of fractional differential equations. elsevier; 2006 Mar 2.
- [25] Kiryakova, V. Generalised Fractional Calculus and Applications. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics, vol. 301. Longman, Harlow (1994).
- [26] Linz P. Analytical and numerical methods for Volterra equations. Siam; 1985.
- [27] Losada J, Nieto JJ. Properties of a new fractional derivative without singular kernel. Progr.
 Fract. Differ. Appl. 2015 Apr;1(2):87-92. https://doi.org/10.12785/pfda/010202.

- [28] Machado, J. T., Kiryakova, V., Mainardi, F. Recent history of fractional calculus. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 16(3), 1140 -1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnsns.2010.05.027 (2011).
- [29] Mehandirattaa, V.; Mehraa, M.; Leugeringb, G. Existence and uniqueness results for a nonlinear Caputo fractional boundary value problem on a star graph. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2019.05.011.
- [30] Miller KS, Ross B. An introduction to the fractional calculus and fractional differential equations. Wiley; 1993.
- [31] Mirzaee F, Hadadiyan E. Numerical solution of Volterra-Fredholm integral equations via modification of hat functions. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2016 Apr 20;280:110-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2016.01.038.
- [32] Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. Analytical and Numerical Study for an Fractional Boundary Value Problem with conformable fractional derivative of Caputo and its Fractional Integral. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Mech., JAMCM (2020).
 https://doi.org/
- [33] Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. & Kurulay M. Analytical and numerical study of a nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations with conformable fractional derivation of Caputo. Annals of the University of Craiova - Mathematics and Computer Science Series (2020).
 - https://doi.org/.
- [34] Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H. & Kurulay M. On the solvability fractional of a boundary value problem with new fractional integral. J. Appl. Math. Comput. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12190-020-01368-x.
- [35] Moumen Bekkouche M., Guebbai H., Kurulay M.,& Benmahmoud S. A new fractional integral associated with the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional derivative. Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo Series 2 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12215-020-00557-8.
- [36] Munkhammar J. Fractional calculus and the Taylor-Riemann series. Rose-Hulman Undergraduate Mathematics Journal. 2005;6(1):6.

- [37] Ngoc PH, Anh TT. Stability of nonlinear Volterra equations and applications. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2019 Jan 15;341:1-4.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2018.07.027.
- [38] Oldham K, Spanier J. The fractional calculus theory and applications of differentiation and integration to arbitrary order. Elsevier; 1974 Sep 5.
- [39] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations: an introduction to fractional derivatives, fractional differential equations, to methods of their solution and some of their applications. Elsevier; 1998 Oct 27.
- [40] Podlubny I. The Laplace transform method for linear differential equations of the fractional order. arXiv preprint funct-an/9710005. 1997 Oct 30.
- [41] Protter MH, Charles Jr B. Intermediate calculus. Springer Science & Business Media; 2012 Dec 6.
- [42] Rawashdeh EA. Numerical solution of fractional integro-differential equations by collocation method. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2006 May 1;176(1):1-6.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2005.09.059 (2006).
- [43] Saeedi H, Moghadam MM. Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations of arbitrary order by CAS wavelets. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation. 2011 Mar 1;16(3):1216-26.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnsns.2010.07.017.

- [44] Samko SG, Kilbas AA, Marichev OI. Fractional Integrals and Derivatives-Theory and Applications Gordon and Breach. Linghorne, PA. 1993.
- [45] Saray BN. An efficient algorithm for solving Volterra integro-differential equations based on Alpert's multi-wavelets Galerkin method. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2018.09.016 (2018).
- [46] Segni S, Ghiat M, Guebbai H. New approximation method for Volterra nonlinear integro-differential equation. Asian-European Journal of Mathematics. 2019 Feb 13 ;12(01):1950016. https://doi.org/10.1142/s1793557119500165 (2018).

- [47] Shamloo AS, Babolian E. solution of fractional differential, integral and integro-differential equations by using piecewise constant orthogonal functions. InPAMM: Proceedings in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics 2007 Dec (Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 2020139-2020140). Berlin: WILEY-VCH Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1002/pamm.200701069 (2007).
- [48] Wang Y, Zhu L. SCW method for solving the fractional integro-differential equations with a weakly singular kernel. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2016 Feb 15;275:72-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2015.11.057.
- [49] Wang Y, Zhu L. Solving nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations of fractional order by using Euler wavelet method. Advances in difference equations. 2017 Dec;2017(1):27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13662-017-1085-6.
- [50] Wang Y, Wang H. Triple positive solutions for fractional differential equation boundary value problems at resonance. Applied Mathematics Letters. 2020 Apr 8:106376.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aml.2020.106376
- [51] Wazwaz AM. A First course in integral equations. World Scientific Publishing Company; 2015 May 4.
- [52] Wazwaz AM. Linear and nonlinear integral equations. Berlin: Springer; 2011.
- [53] Wazwaz AM. The combined Laplace transform-Adomian decomposition method for handling nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations. Applied Mathematics and Computation. 2010 Apr 15;216(4):1304-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2010.02.023.
- [54] YE, H.; HUANG, R. Initial value problem for nonlinear fractional differential equations with sequential fractional derivative. Advances in Difference Equations, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13662-015-0620-6 (2015).

Annex

MATLAB Operators and Special Characters

Some common commands are listed in this section a full specification of each can be obtained using the help system.

+	Addition.
-	Subtraction.
*	Multiplication.
/	Division.
abs	Absolute value.
\mathbf{sqrt}	Square root function.
clc	Clear command window.
clear	Clear variables and functions from memory.
\wedge	Exponentiation.
pi	the mathematical constant π .
1	Transpose.
%	To comment out one line in a multiline command.
clc	clean command window. After this function, all previous command written on window will clean.
close all	closes all figures, and window.
clear all	this build in function clear all variable created in work space of matlab.

syms Create symbolic variables and functions.

diff(f) differentiates f with respect to x, and there are several forms

$$diff(f(\mathbf{x})) = f'(x)$$

$$diff(f(\mathbf{x}),\mathbf{n}) = f^{(n)}(x)$$

$$diff(f(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}),\mathbf{n},\mathbf{y}) = \frac{d^{(n)}f(x,y)}{dy^n}$$

$$diff(f,\mathbf{x}1,...,\mathbf{x}N) = \frac{d}{dx_n}\cdots\frac{d}{dx_1}f(x_1,x_2,\cdots,x_n).$$

 \mathbf{int}

Integrate, and there are several forms

$$\operatorname{int}(\mathbf{f},\mathbf{s},\mathbf{a},\mathbf{t}) = \int_{a}^{t} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad \operatorname{int}(\mathbf{f},\operatorname{omega}) = \int_{\Omega} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Da(f,alpha,a) the new fractional derivative of Caputo $\mathscr{D}^{(\alpha)} f(t)$

floor	the nearest integer in the direction of negative.
Ma	M the function used in section 1.1.4.
A(i,j)	A_{ij} Element of the matrix A .
V(i)	V_i Element of the vector V .
==	Equal to.
$\sim =$	Not equal to.
>	Greater than.
>=	Greater than or equal to.
<	Less than.
<=	Less than or equal to.
&	Logical AND.
	Logical OR .
\sim	Logical NOT.

Compare Matlab to C/C++

Pros Matlab:

- is a higher level of programming language.
- is easier to start.
- provides convenient tools and built-in functions.
- provides user-friendly graphical interface.
- is good for post data analysis and visualization.
- Matlab is better for numerical treatments.
- Matlab is more popular in engineering.
- Symbolic Math Toolbox[™] provides functions for solving, plotting, and manipulating symbolic math equations. You can create, run, and share symbolic math code using the MATLAB[®] Live Editor. The toolbox provides functions in common mathematical areas such as calculus, linear algebra, algebraic and ordinary differential equations, equation simplification, and equation manipulation.

Cons Matlab:

• in many cases, the computational speed of Matlab is slower than that of C/C++.